Louisiana State University

LSU Scholarly Repository

LSU Doctoral Dissertations

Graduate School

8-13-2022

"I'm Not Your Ride or Die": A Qualitative Study of Black Women's Experiences in Intimate Marketplaces

Alana Jamelle Peck Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.lsu.edu/gradschool_dissertations

Recommended Citation

Peck, Alana Jamelle, ""I'm Not Your Ride or Die": A Qualitative Study of Black Women's Experiences in Intimate Marketplaces" (2022). *LSU Doctoral Dissertations*. 5947. https://repository.lsu.edu/gradschool_dissertations/5947

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Scholarly Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized graduate school editor of LSU Scholarly Repository. For more information, please contactgradetd@lsu.edu.

"I'M NOT YOUR RIDE OR DIE": A QUALITATIVE STUDY OF BLACK WOMEN'S EXPERIENCES IN INTIMATE MARKETPLACES

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

The Department of Sociology

by
Alana Jamelle Peck
B.A., Xavier University of Louisiana, 2015
M.A., Louisiana State University, 2018
December 2022

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I've gone back and forth about how exactly to address this because I really didn't want to spend a lot of time or feelings here. Ultimately, I decided to keep it brief and nameless because pregnancy brain has really gotten the best of me, and I'd feel awful if I forgot someone.

To my committee, thank you for your patience. I know that we've been on this road a lot longer than I originally anticipated and I appreciate you all for being flexible, understanding, and encouraging throughout the journey. A particular thank you to my chair for making this the most pleasant and motivational dissertation writing experience I could have ever imagined. I am truly eternally grateful as I am sure that I could not have endured anything else under my current circumstances and to be able to see this through... I have no words. Thank you.

To the friends and associates that I made at LSU, including "The six or so in the room", I truly appreciate you all. From my first day in this program, we created a bond that I will never forget. Through all adversity, we stood strong for each other. We cried together, we fought together, we studied together, and we prevailed together. To those that I came in with to those that were added along the way, I am beyond proud to have known you all and thankful to have had you be a part of my journey. To the mother of the group, I don't know if I would have made it through my first, second, third, fourth, fifth, or sixth year in this program without you. You have wiped my tears, regularly talked me out of quitting, coached me through tough conversations, come through with solutions to every problem I approached you with, advocated for me even when I wasn't present, talked through my dissertation chapters with me, and way more than I could even list here. You never made me, or my feelings feel like a burden and always made time for me. I truly do not deserve you and to say thank you is an understatement. I

would not be here without you, and that is the God-honest truth. Thank you, thank you, thank you.

To my family, you all are truly a phenomenal bunch and a constant source of motivation simply through the examples that you have consistently set. I am beyond blessed to have had endless examples of Black excellence my entire life, essentially giving me no choice but to level up at every turn. To my parents, you both inspire me every day. You are two of the most dynamic and simply amazing people I know. Ever since I was young, you two held me to the highest of standards- and while I wasn't always a fan, I can honestly now say I appreciate the methods to your madness. Left to my own devices early on, I'm sure I wouldn't be in grad school today, and I definitely have you two to thank for that. I hope to continue to make you both proud and, not to rub it in, but we've finally reached the point where I'm passing you both up in degrees. I greatly look forward to you both calling me "Doctor" at least once (lol).

Last, but certainly not least, to my son, you are my reason why. I was doing everything but this dissertation until you came along and lit a fire within me... literally. I immediately wanted to be an example for you, I wanted to be an inspiration to you, and I wanted to make you proud. I didn't want your first experience of me to be me quitting. You've been here with me every step of the way- even kicking me awake some nights to get through late nights of writing. This has been a journey to say the least, and I am beyond thankful to have had the opportunity to share it so intimately with you. Your presence has been an undeniable force throughout this process and I cannot wait to meet you, Alan Vaughn Peck. Thank you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
ABSTRACT	vi
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
A Fresh Perspective	4
What's to Come: A Chapter Review	
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	10
Black Women and Relationships	12
Theoretical Perspective	23
CHAPTER 3. DATA AND METHODOLOGY	28
Rationale for Research Methodology	29
Recruitment and Sampling	
Focus Groups	
Analysis	
Reflexivity and Positionality	
CHAPTER 4. LOVE AFTER LOCKUP	44
Mass Incarceration and Black Women's Dating Experiences	47
Love After Lockup	
"My Soulmate is in Jail"	
"I mean, you shouldn't be an active criminal"	
Conclusion.	
CHAPTER 5. A CERTAIN KIND OF PARTNERSHIP	60
A Certain Kind of Partnership	
"I'm just looking for marriage in a practical kind of way"	
"Somebody chose me! So the least I can do is choose them back"	
Conclusion	
CHAPTER 6. "I WANNA GET MARRIED I JUST WANNA FINISH THIS	DEGREE
FIRST."	
"I wanna get married I just wanna finish this degree first."	77
"I don't have a priority to be married"	
"Where are you in your journey towards being your best self?"	
Conclusion	
CHAPTER 7. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	80
Future Directions	
APPENDIX A. RECRUITMENT FLYER	95

APPENDIX B. IRB FORM	96
REFERENCE LIST	97
VITA	108

ABSTRACT

Black women's marriage rates have consistently been on the decline since the 1960's and currently, Black women are the least likely to get married across all races and genders (Bureau 2020). Scholars have been using these statistics to tell monolithic narratives of Black womanhood, and even blame Black women for larger issues within the Black community (Collins 2000, Johnson and Loscocco 2015; Moynihan 1965). Prior scholars have also attempted to provide solutions to this problem, while never even approaching Black women, to suggest ways that they can increase their marriage rates and consequently uplift Black families and the Black community as a whole (Banks 2010). My dissertations steps in to address this phenomenon by going straight to Black women to directly capture their relationship experiences. Using focus groups, I conduct an exploratory research project seeking to understand how Black women describe their heterosexual experiences, if these experiences differ by educational attainment, how Black women feel they are being received within intimate marketplaces, and how their background impacts their perceptions. I find that the Black women within my dissertation display a hyperawareness of the impacts of mass incarceration on the Black community and are increasingly more open to men with criminal backgrounds as a means to expand their dating pools. I also find that most of my respondents reject romantic societal notions of marriage in favor of a more practical and mutually beneficial interpretation. Lastly, I find that in many cases, my respondents tend to favor prioritizing their own self-improvement in terms of degree attainment and career advancement rather than pursuing a relationship, in addition to practicing radical self-love. I conclude by discussing the implications of these findings and ultimately urge that future scholars speak directly to Black people when discussing Black issues.

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

"Well, do *you* plan on getting married? 'Cause if you do, you need to before you finish that big ole degree. Ain't no man gone wanna marry a woman with all them degrees."

--- A random Black woman from the author's church

Often, when I tell people that I study Black women and heterosexual marriage, I've found myself in various unsolicited conversations with people from all walks of life wanting to give me their opinions and experiences. Some of these conversations left a considerable sour taste in my mouth, like the quote above, while others have resulted in me making lifelong friends. While I find most to be insightful and have even jotted down an idea or two to take into later consideration, the conversations that I find to be most troubling have been those I've had with my father.

My father, and favorite person, has always held me to a high standard and has clearly communicated to me that he wants the best for me; however, our interpretation of what is best has never quite aligned. My dad, a very religious man, married my mother at the age of 41 and I am his only child. It has always been his intention that, on a bit sooner of a timeline, I eventually follow the example that he and my mother set as that is what he envisions as my happily ever after. I, on the other hand, don't necessarily see marriage as a requirement for myself. Whenever I've attempted to make this explicitly clear with my dad, he shuts down the conversation. I remember one time telling him laughingly that if I ever ended up engaged or married, assume that I was "tricked" into it. He immediately told me that wasn't funny and changed the topic.

My dad, who's been married to my mother for the past 27 years, once told me a story about a friend of his who he describes as having "given up" on love. When he asked her where her husband was, after remarking on her twin boys, she told him that she had got to a point in her life where she wanted children and she looked around at all of her married friends with children

and saw how their lives were and decided that was not how she wanted to do it. So instead, she found someone to have a baby with, had her boys, and that was that. My father expressed his disappointment in her choices, telling me that, "it's just a shame that she just gave up like that" and how he sees so many other Black women that do the same.

My interpretation of this story was a bit different from my father's. I thought, here is an empowered Black woman who made a decision about how she wanted to live her life, free of the burden of societal expectations and the opinions of others. This is a woman who is financially well off, highly educated, living a comfortable life in Southern California, and her boys are thriving—they take regular piano lessons from my father and are involved in various additional extracurricular and supplementary educational activities. She took charge of her life, did things her way, and is happy with her decisions, all things that I greatly admired.

Since becoming pregnant and choosing to remain unmarried myself, I've developed a more paralleled position to my father's friend. When announcing to him and my mother my own bundle of joy, their first question was if I would marry the father, to which I immediately answered no. I watched my father's disappointment and my mother's tears for what must have been one of their worst nightmares for me. I, on the other hand, was taking into account my life's accomplishments: I have 2 degrees and a third on the way, I own my home, I'm self-sufficient, and I both desire and am capable of motherhood—what's the big deal? After a long pause, my father asked me, "So have you given up on love and marriage? Are you just done with that?" I didn't want to outright say that I never wanted it in that moment as I felt that I had done enough for the day, but remembering how he spoke of his friend, and now of me, it did make me pause. Was my father right? Did we "give up" on marriage?

Since the 1960s, research has documented the steadily decreasing marriage rates of Black women (Bureau 2010). While this statistic is consistent for all Black women, it is important to remember that Black women represent a diverse group of people and cannot be deduced into one monolithic narrative (Collins 2002; Frazier 1958; Harris-Perry 2011; Patillo 2013; Wilson 1987). My father's friend is considerably well off financially and the way that she experiences singleness is different from the experiences of working-class and poor Black women (Edin and Kefalas 2005).

The scholarly debate surrounding the reasons for marriage decline for Black women have yet to reach a consensus. Many of the issues discussed in this debate include Black women's increasing degree attainment, the portrayal of Black women in media and urban cultural frames, the lack of marriageable Black men, and the stigmas associated with Black women dating outside of their race (Henry 2008). Even though several studies have documented that Black women are most interested in being with Black men, many scholars have taken more of a solution-based approach to what they see as a social problem by exploring the attitudes of Black women and men in interracial relationships, which have become increasingly more accepted over the years (Childs 2005; DePass 2006; Luke and Oser 2015; Porter and Bronzaft 1995). However, with this increase in acceptance, there is still a lingering stigma for Black women related to interracial relationships as well as an overwhelmingly shared perspective shared by Black women that non-Black men are uninterested in them, resulting in them not outright pursuing this as a viable outcome (Banks 2010). These sentiments are further supported by the various studies conducted by dating apps and sites showing a lack of interest and engagement with Black women by all men, and especially non-Black men (Lewis 2012).

Furthermore, addressing whether Black women such as my father's friend have "given up" on marriage requires that I examine another relevant line of research – the lived experiences of Black men, especially as it relates to them being considered "marriageable." William Julius Wilson defines the term marriageable as "the ratio of employed men to all women of the same age" (Sawhill and Venator 2015, pg 2). Being "marriageable" encompasses both a man's overall financial position as well as not having a criminal record (Sawhill and Venator 2015). It is estimated that up to one third of Black men will face imprisonment in their lifetime (SentencingProject 2015; Western and Wildeman 2009). Entanglement in the criminal justice system, at any level, comes with lingering consequences, including financial hardship and overall stigma, things that are not ideal for building a marriage or a family. Additionally, as Black women's educational attainment increases, it has consequently surpassed that of Black men given the already existing income gap between Black households and white households (Black Women's Roundtable 2019; Lyons and Pettit 2011; Pettit and Lyons 2009; Western and Wildeman 2009; Western 2002).

A Fresh Perspective

There is extensive statistical data on marriage rates, mass incarceration, degree attainment, and household income inequality. There are also various studies conducted looking at the various ways in which people pursue dating in the digital age and what the trends are in these spaces. Collectively, these figures have helped to paint a numerical picture of how these factors impact Black women in marriage markets as well as give some insight to the experiences of Black women in intimate marketplaces. There have also been various books written to offer suggestions to Black women on how to address their declining marriage rates, which have helped to provide additional perspectives on the matter. However, there is a dearth of scholarship that

explores Black women's narratives about their dating and relationship experiences as they navigate intimate marketplaces. I will close that gap by going directly to Black women to gain insight from the foundation of these discussions. My study is an exploration of the ways that cisgender, Black women who date men experience dating and intimate relationships.

The following research questions guide my project:

- 1. How do Black women describe their heterosexual experiences with dating and intimate relationships?
- 2. To what extent do these experiences differ by educational attainment?
- 3. How do Black women feel that they are being received within intimate marketplaces?
- 4. How does education level impact their perceptions?

Furthermore, this project uses four secondary questions to better understand the ways that Black women make meaning within their dating and relationship experiences:

- 1. How does educational attainment impact how Black women think about marriage?
- 2. How do Black women understand the concept of marrying down? (How do factors, such as education, income, and criminal background factor into this?)
- 3. What do Black women consider to be a marriageable man?
- 4. For Black women particularly invested in long term relationships, how do they negotiate considerations and possibilities of marrying down?

Against a cultural backdrop of sexualized racism and colorblind racism, this project uses focus groups to explore how Black women make meaning in their experiences with dating and intimate relationships. Since statistical evidence can only provide part of the picture, I go straight to the source of Black women themselves to help us all better understand what this phenomenon

actually looks like for those living in it. My project helps showcase how Black women experience declining marriage rates in their day to day lives.

What's to Come: A Chapter Review

"'How can I as one person speak for such a large and complex group as AfricanAmerican women?' I asked myself. The answer is that I cannot and should not because each of
us must learn to speak for herself" "(Collins 2000, pg.xi). The purpose of my dissertation is to
explore the relationship experiences of Black women, but to also to provide a platform to allow
Black women to tell these stories themselves. Black women's relationship experiences continue
to be the forefront of discussion as it relates to the Black experience, but seldom have scholars
taken the time to speak directly to Black women to better understand their unique disposition.

Primarily through the frame of Black feminist theory, my dissertation uses focus groups to create
the space for Black women to narrate their experiences and highlight their processes as they
move through romantic interpersonal relationships.

In my second chapter, I use the literature to provide detailed background upon which to build the foundation of Black women's relationship experiences. I start with a general picture of the Black experience and highlight the impact of systemic racism on the Black community as a whole. I cover mass incarceration, the wealth gap, housing discrimination and more. I also discuss the plight of Black men as I provide the basis that Black men are Black women's primary prospect within marriage markets (Banks 2010). I then move into discussing how these systems intertwine directly with the experiences of Black womanhood and shape the foundations of their relationships. I close this chapter with a chronological journey through all of the theories that I use to frame my dissertation.

My third chapter covers the data and methodology used for this project. I start by explaining where my research fits within the current landscape of what has been done. I then move into explaining and defending my use of focus groups as well as highlighting the scholars before me that describe this method as being ideal for providing a powerful and healing space for women of color to express while also being there to support each other (Carey-Webb 1996; Huber 2009; Reyes and Rodriguez 2012). Because of this method, I was able to capture rich data where my participants were able to be both vulnerable and empowered as they shared their intimate experiences with me. As this topic often became delicate at portions throughout the focus group, I was still able to both capture the individual stories as well as the nuance of the interactions between the women as they lifted each other up. I close this chapter by highlighting my own positionality and the impact that it had on my research. Being a Black woman that is all too familiar with this topic, I too was able to benefit from these discussions while still assuring that my participants felt both comfortable and confident in sharing with me.

In chapter four, I discuss my first finding of Black women negotiating their willingness to date down, especially as it related to their level of tolerance for criminal backgrounds in their dating prospects. I reexamine the burden of mass incarceration on the Black community as my respondents demonstrate a hyperawareness of the residual impact this phenomenon has on Black men and therefore their dating pool. I analyze my participants willingness to make allowances for criminal backgrounds and examine the extent to which they are inclined to do so. I closed with a theoretical analysis of these behaviors, framing it within the context of racial realism as the women take a realistic approach to broadening their marriage markets under less than favorable conditions due to systemic racism.

In chapter five, I address the ways that my respondents describe and understand the concept of marriage. I frame this chapter using Black feminist theory and the significance of Black women needing to define things for themselves when societal definitions of concepts directly contradict their entire experience. I find two main ways that my respondents approach marriage – one that is a direct rejection of the romanticized cultural norms of marriage but instead more practical in nature, and a second that is actually more in line with societal values and centered around the idea of being 'chosen.' I analyze the differences between these two opposing perspectives, the impacts of socialization, and the significance of breaking down the negative tropes that many associate with Black women in intimate relationships.

Chapter six looks at the ways that Black women prioritize themselves and their relationships. I find that in most cases, my respondents express a significant commitment to self-improvement in the form of educational and career advancement, as well as self-love and self-care. Some respondents do so from a perspective of making sure that their primary needs are met before pursuing a romantic relationship while others do so due to experiencing difficulty in their relationship experiences. Many of my respondents also expressed simultaneously being on a journey towards self-love and asserting that this is something that they find necessary for their potential mate's to be prioritizing as well. I frame these findings using Black feminist theory by addressing the tropes of the Black Lady, the concept of "smart-ugly," and the resurgence of radical self-love.

I conclude my dissertation with an overview of the literature, a recapturing of my findings, and a discussion of further directions. I take into the account the feedback of my respondents in ways that this project can be expanded to explicitly include sex and men. I discuss the theoretical implications to those inclusions as well as why they weren't incorporated into the

current study. I briefly address other major thematic trends that were prevalent within my data and the ways that these can become the foundation for larger future projects. Lastly, I analyze the impact of this dissertation simply by giving Black women the opportunity to speak for themselves and urge that more scholars, when addressing Black centered issues, highlight Black women's voices in future academic works.

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

The current state of Black women in America is rather bittersweet. While they have made strides in educational attainment, they also bear the brunt of various other factors such as an income wage gap shaped by their intersecting position in structures of gender and racial inequality. Black women's educational attainment surpasses Black men overall, by a ratio of 2:1 (Black Women's Roundtable 2019). In the 2018-19 academic year, compared with their Black male counterparts, Black women earned 67% of associates degrees, 64% of bachelor's degrees, 70% of masters degrees, 67% of all doctorates (NCES 2020). However, Black women still suffer from employment discrimination, income inequality, wealth disparities, housing inequality, and health disparities (Black Women's Roundtable 2019; Hill 2004; Patten 2016). Black women earn 61 cents to the dollar as compared with white men. When compared with white women, Black women are less likely to be in high wage earning positions and less likely to experience upward mobility in their positions (Black Women's Roundtable 2019). Black women also have a fraction of the wealth of their white counterparts, with this gap increasing over their life course. Where Black women are reported to have approximately 24% of the wealth of white women in their 40s, this number decreases to only 2% by the time they reach their 60s. Black women are also less likely to have employee benefits and more likely to be discredited when reporting harassment and other offenses within the workplace (Berdahl and Moore 2006, Black Women's Roundtable 2019, Ontiveros 1993). Compounding this is the fact that, 70% of Black women who are mothers are the sole breadwinner of their households (Black Women's Roundtable 2019).

The state of Black men in America is not much better than their female counterparts, and in many respects, Black men are also disenfranchised in a multitude of ways including Black men averaging only a third of all degrees at all levels achieved by Black people (Black Women's

Roundtable 2019). Even though Black men reportedly surpass Black women in terms of financial success (Black Women's Roundtable 2019; Crowder and Tolnay 2000), when we consider the impacts of the prison industrial complex, mass incarceration, and the school-to-prison pipeline, and its impact on Black men and particular, very few Black men are given the opportunity to actually achieve anything as they are targeted from their youth (Alexander 2010, Wald and Losen 2003, Western and Wildeman 2002). For the third of Black men who are able to evade the justice system and get an education, they are able to make more to the dollar than Black women, although Black women have been closing that gap over time. Almost half of all Black women have a Black male relative who is currently incarcerated (Wildeman and Wang 2017). It has been estimated that of all Black men born in 2001, one in three of them will face imprisonment in their lifetime- a figure that has steadily been increasing in the past few decades (Sentencing Project 2015; Western and Wildeman 2009; Wildeman and Wang 2017).

Following incarceration, regardless of age, formerly incarcerated people consistently have a difficult time finding employment (Western and Wildeman 2009, Pager 2003, Pettit and Lyons 2009). And the stigma of incarceration does not alleviate over time, in fact, research shows that it only worsens (Petit and Lyons 2009). Further, studies have found that the incarceration of Black men leads to lasting detrimental health impacts not only on the men incarcerated, but on their partners, their children, and their neighborhoods (Clear 2009, Wildeman and Wang 2017). Drawing on the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, Western (2002) looked at non-college, incarcerated Black males, and found that imprisonment increased wage inequality and contributed to slow wage growth. Similarly, Lyons and Pettit (2011) studied a cohort of men over a 14-year period and evaluated state administrative data. The authors found that for previously incarcerated Black males, their wages increased at a rate of 21% slower than

that of previously incarcerated White males. Other cases have even found that incarceration completely "sabatoges" employment for Black men (Apel and Ramakers 2018). Repeatedly, research has shown that once one has been incarcerated, both attaining a job and moving up the ranks in pay becomes very difficult, if not, impossible - an unfortunate reality faced by a significant portion of Black men (Apel and Ramakers 2018; Pettit and Lyons 2009, 2011; Sentencing Project 2015; Western 2002; Western and Wildeman 2009).

Black Women and Relationships

Amidst all of the systemic barriers being faced by Black men and the Black community at large, Black women are still attempting to find a partner. Relationships for Black women have always been an incredibly layered conversation as it involves significantly more than just talk of love, desire, and ultimately choosing a partner. Scholars have identified several trends in Black women's romantic relationships and their experiences in intimate marketplaces. Black women are least likely of all groups by both race and gender to be married (Bureau 2020). In the 2010 Census, only 35% of Black women over the age of 18 reported being married as compared to 57% of white women and 42% of Black men (Bureau 2010). Also, Black people increasingly marry outside their race. In 1980, 5% of Black newlyweds were in interracial marriages and in 2015, this number rose to 18% (Livingston and Brown 2017). Black men are twice as likely to intermarry than Black women. In 2015, 12% of all interracial newlyweds were Black women and 24% were Black men (Livingston and Brown 2017).

Race loyalty continues to be a theme that arises for Black women where their relationships are concerned. Many have gone as far to say that this very loyalty is what keeps many Black women single due to their unwillingness to consider non-Black men as suitable romantic partners (Banks 2010). Black women's choices, however, exist for a myriad of reasons,

most of which are spawn from the historical context of Black-white dynamics (Collins 2004). Black women express concern with fetishization from white men in particular, as well as the desire of wanting to have shared experiences and understandings with their romantic partners (Banks 2010, Childs 2005, Steinbugler 2012). Banks (2010) sees this as an overall hinderance to Black women's happiness as it relates to their love lives. While Banks (2010) takes into account the concerns expressed by Black women as it relates to their concerns with interracial partnering, he prefers to highlight the potential that exists outside of racially homogenous relationships. The sentiment of race loyalty is not shared by Black men, and even less so with affluent Black men (Banks 2010, Livingston and Brown 2017).

For Black women in marriages, race loyalty looks slightly different. Culturally, Black women are strongly encouraged to uplift Black men and let them lead in relationships, even if that means putting themselves down (Harvey 2009, Johnson and Loscoco 2015). As a means of fighting the negative tropes of being mammies and jezebels, Black women lean into respectability and more biblical narratives of submissive womanhood, often to men who have developed a false perception of superiority over them (Collins 2000, Johnson and Loscoco 2015, Painia 2018). In many cases, in an effort to preserve the image of the Black family, Black women take into account the societal burden that Black men are under and silently suffer in an effort to maintain their households and marriages. To outwardly struggle with this, or fail in regards to their household, would be a show of 'weakness,' something that would be entirely out of character for the ever present trope of the 'strong Black woman' (Harris-Perry 2012). Further, this would disgrace the image of the Black family, an image that married Black women work overtime to uphold (Johnson and Loscoco 2015).

Many scholars have argued for the benefits of marriage, toting marriage as a metaphorical cure-all for various health and socioeconomic factors (Hirschi 1969, Hirschl, Altobelli and Rank 2003, Litcher, Roempke and Brown 2003). Where this is problematic for a variety of reasons, some of the benefits scholars have found of marriage include a decrease in criminal behavior for men (Hirschi 1969), positive outcomes for children (Hirschl, Altobelli and Rank 2003), longer life expectancy for men (Hirschl, Altobelli and Rank 2003), and concentrated wealth (Hirschi 1969; Hirschl, Altobelli and Rank 2003; Litcher, Roempke and Brown 2003; South and Crowder 1997). However, these benefits do not translate to Black families, and specifically to Black women (Hirschl, Altobelli and Rank 2003; Litcher, Roempke and Brown 2003). The lack of inclusion of the societal barriers created by systemic racism allows scholarship to paint incomplete pictures.

Arguably, marriage, as we know it, is a racially gendered institution socially constructed to exacerbate white privilege and further disparage Black women (Collins 2000). "[White men's] understandings of family depend heavily on who controls the definitions. And the definitions advanced by elite groups in the United States uniformly work to the detriment of African-American women" (Collins 2000, p. 47). This considered, it is important to examine the potentially detrimental impacts of marriage and relationships on Black women when centering it around these exclusive definitions. The 'Weathering' hypothesis developed by Geronimus and colleagues argues that the "effects of living in a race-conscious society may be greatest among those Blacks most likely to engage in high-effort coping" (Geronimus et. Al 2006) an argument that speaks specifically to the negative health outcomes experienced by Black women. This is representative by the increased presence of stress related physical ailments in Black women, the decreased life expectancy, and the disparate maternal health rates faced by Black women

(Geronimus 2004). Some example of these stress induced physical ailments would be high blood pressure, heart disease, circulatory disease, and more (Geronimus et. Al 1999). Additionally, Black women who do get married report being significantly less satisfied with marriage than do white women (Addo and Litcher 2013; Broman 1993; Cheng 2016; Raley, Sweeny, and Wondra 2015). Where married white women and men report being less depressed and happier in their marriages, affluent Black women and men are found to be more depressed (Roxburgh 2017). Comparatively, Black women also have higher divorce rates at almost every age range as compared to white women, further supporting the case of low levels of marriage satisfaction (Raley, Sweeny, and Wondra 2015). When it comes to receiving the benefit of wealth accumulation in marriage, that is moreso privy to those who stay in their marriages, rather than those who divorce or experience instability (Addo and Litcher 2013).

When marrying, Black women are less likely to marry into wealth, more likely to marry someone who earns less than them, and more likely to marry someone that is less educated than them (Black Womens Roundable 2019; Collins 1997; Porter and Bronzaft 1995). Marriage for Black women results in less financial accumulation than their white counterparts and can even result in an overall negative financial impact (Addo and Litcher 2013; Broman 1993; Cheng 2016). As compared to married white women, being both married and educated bears very little benefit for Black women's wealth standing. In 2013, married, non-college educated White women had a median wealth of \$117,200, compared to married, college educated Black women's median wealth of \$45,000. Married white women's median wealth more than doubled when college educated, jumping to \$260,000. Unmarried college educated Black women's median wealth stood at a mere \$5,000 (Zaw et. Al 2017). With the trends in marriage having switched from non-educated women marrying more to college educated women marrying more,

we continue to see these wealth gaps increase between Black and white women (Goldstein and Kenny 2001).

The Black church plays a large role in Black women's understanding of relationships and marriage (Johnson and Loscocco 2015, Painia 2018). Historically speaking, the Black church fervently upholds the sanctity of marriage as the moral standard of relationships as a part of their overall commitment to racial uplift (Moultrie 2018). Specifically in the case of single mothers, the church acts as a major social pressure for them to marry and to avoid the stigmas of their unwed and illegitimate status (Johnson and Loscocco 2015, Moultrie 2018). The Black church is deeply steeped in patriarchal rhetoric that encourages women to adhere to the politics of respectability and stay in their place as it relates to men. A major religious conversation specific to marriage is that of submission, which often comes up in relationship dynamics, irrespective of the man's ability to serve as a provider (Painia 2018). Similar to the race loyalty argument, Black women are often encouraged to essentially diminish themselves to maintain both their households and relationships (Johnson and Loscocco 2015).

In a study featuring conversations with Black men, several ways that the Black church serves as a moral pillar to the foundation to healthy Black marriages and families were brought up (Collins and Perry 2015). The men spoke of the church as being a positive example to promote family stability while societal structures sought to break apart Black families. For example, respondents mentioned policies resulting in female headed households receiving housing and welfare benefits but prohibiting living with the fathers. They felt that the presence and prevalence of the church introduced an additional moral plea to getting married that is not otherwise encouraged in larger society, which is supported by scholarship showing that church

attending urban families are more likely to get married than those who don't (Collins and Perry 2015, Wilcox and Wolfinger 2007).

There also exists a resounding shared societal understanding that the Black church holds the required information for the Black community that would help to improve their marriage rates. The men in the previous study spoke heavily of the idea that their partners needed to be "equally yolked" and said that church provided the necessary teachings in order to prepare both men and women for these biblically balanced unions (Collins and Perry 2015). The men did refer lightly to some of the patriarchal themes brought up by prior scholars. When considering the role of a man in marriage as taught by the church, scholars stated, "This guidance espoused men's obligation to be husbands and fathers who are trustworthy and faithful leaders who are also benevolent and reflective" (Collins and Perry 2015, pg. 437). Further, in a plea to Black churches to help improve marriage rates for Black women, a mental health professional reasons that a major issues why Black people aren't getting married is because they lack positive and stable examples from their upbringing, but that could in turn be provided by the Black church (Young 2004). Additionally, politicians, both democratic and republican, when presented with finding ways to try and increase marriage rates in the Black community, have introduced legislation that would fund churches to promote healthy marriages, and have made public statements regarding Black people's need to implore churches in order to improve marriages (Young 2004).

Marriage Deferment

Even though Black women have lower marriage rates than other groups, this does not mean that they have totally given up on marriage. Where some Black women do defer marriage, many still experience meaningful and lasting romantic relationships—some with Black men,

women, or those who opt to date and/or marry interracially (Barros-Gomez and Baptist 2014; Edin and Kefalas 2005; Kinnon 2003; Mouzan 2013).

Barros-Gomez and Baptist (2014) conducted in-depth interviews with five Black women to explore their experiences of singleness. All of the women in the sample had achieved graduate degrees, some were mothers, and all were unmarried. When Black women in their sample were asked about how they make sense of the concept of marriage, the women ultimately had mixed feelings about marriage. They recognized the significance of gender roles and some even spoke of seeing marriage as losing a bit of freedom to the expected gender dynamic of marriage. The authors argued that many of these Black women were raised with a religious emphasis on 'togetherness,' that stressed the centrality of the family. The authors sought to understand how the women reconciled their unmarried statuses with their familial and religious upbringing (Barros-Gomez and Baptist 2014). Content with their decisions to be unmarried mothers, many made sure to maintain strong associations with family in other ways. Respondents cited the sense of responsibility that they felt to their families and communities, especially as it related to their roles of being single mothers. All also expressed the positivity of marriage and maintained hope for marriage in the future, even going as far as saying that they felt confident in their ability to find a suitable mate whenever time permitted. (Barros-Gomez and Baptist 2014).

Other factors also influence Black women's choice to defer marriage. Edin and Kefalas (2005) uncovered some of the reasons behind deferring marriage, particularly in the case of low-income Black women. The major factors Black women identified against marrying were affordability, control and respectability (Edin and Kefalas 2005). By affordability, the women were referring to the lack of potential marriage partners who were able to financially support a family. Here, men's employment played a significant role in whether or not the woman would

even consider marrying him. For example, since keeping the man around impacts welfare benefits (housing, food stamps, etc.), it was important that he be able to contribute financially if he insisted on marriage (Edin and Kefalas 2005). In terms of control, women were concerned with how marriage might change how they were able to maintain power over their housing situations. Since housing leases were most often put in the woman's name, they maintained the power to unofficially evict their male counterparts if they were not holding up their end of the household contributions or putting undue stress on the household (Edin and Kefalas 2005).

Finally, respectability was interpreted in two ways: the status of the man that would be the potential candidate for marriage, and the legitimacy that it would bring upon their household. While the women perceived respectability in these two ways, it is important to note that the two were not mutually exclusive, because just as much as the man could add to her respectability, he could also diminish it if, for example, he engaged in criminal behavior (Edin and Kefalas 2005). The paradox is that because Black women held marriage to an exceptionally high esteem, this is precisely why they chose to forego it. These women did not want to involve themselves in undeserving unions because it would diminish and cheapen their view of the sanctity of marriage (Edin and Kefalas 2005).

Examining all these trends alongside one another, various experts have come to the conclusion that many college-educated Black women will never marry (Kinnon 2003). Across all class levels, Black women report holding marriage to an extremely high esteem. As a result, college educated Black women would rather not marry than marry a Black man that is not up to her overall standards (Edin and Kefalas 2005; Porter and Bronzaft 1995). As such, Mouzan (2013) asserts that in order to raise marriage rates for Black women, society must increase economic opportunities for Black men.

In a study that interviewed 52 married Black men, scholars set out to get their perspectives on Black women's declining marriage statistic (Hurt, McElroy. Sheats, Landor, ad Bryant 2014). When asked why they thought that Black women were single, the married Black men that were interviewed saw Black women as trying to come off too strong, projecting the impression that they don't need them (Hurt et al 2014). They continued in saying that Black women had too many standards, had poor attitudes, and would ultimately pass up a man in favor of a woman. The researchers explained that when these men tried to engage with highly accomplished and self-sustaining Black women, they reported feeling that these women held unrealistic standards for potential mates, that women acted as if they did not need to marry, and that Black women would not submit to them [from a biblical standpoint] (Hurt et. Al 2014; Johnson and Loroco 2015). However, in the same breath, when these men were asked about the state of Black men when it comes to incarceration, education, and employment, they did mention that marriage prospects for Black women were grim. They also noted that many Black men weren't ready to get married, enjoyed playing the field, and commented on the phenomenon of men being on the down-low as a potential problem for Black women (Hurt et. Al 2014).

Black Women and Interracial Relationships

In continuing to navigate their declining marriage rates, marriage deferment is not the only route taken by Black women. While race loyalty is common among Black women, especially when it comes to choosing a mate (Banks 2010), there are some who have opted to broaden their marriage market horizons in the form of interracial dating. There is a significant body of literature on Black women and interracial relationships. For example, Crowder and Tolnay (2000) sought to decipher the impact of racial intermarriage on the marital prospects of Black women by examining individual level marriage data, focusing specifically on the

socioeconomic background of unmarried Black men, Black men married to Black women, and Black men married to non-Black women (Crowder and Tolnay 2000). Crowder looked at intermarriage on local levels as well as the overall local marriage market conditions and found that Black men married to non-Black women earn on average \$1400 more than Black men married to Black women and \$9000 more than unmarried Black men (Crowder and Tolnay 2000). The difference in SES between the three groups was also significant (p< .001). Crowder and Tolnay (2000) also found that Black male intermarriage also plays a role in Black women's marital status by decreasing the economically attractive prospects within the dating pool.

Childs (2005) explored how Black women viewed interracial relationships (Childs 2005). To do so, she combined focus group interviews on three college campuses with in-depth interviews with Black women married to white men. Childs found that for the college women, interracial relationships were problematic (Childs 2005). For example, some of these women explained how they did not feel as though white people understood them, a factor that limited the depth of long-term romantic interactions, and others expressed how interracial relationships caused opposition and tension in their families and communities. Many also challenged the motives of those who chose to date interracially, attributing these motives to negative selfperceptions fueled by a manifestation of the negative social narratives surrounding Blackness perpetrated by the media and the residual impact of America's checkered past (Childs 2014; Collins 2002; Collins 2004; Harris-Perry 2011). However, Childs (2005) found that other Black people view Black women who date interracially more favorably than Black men who date interracially because it is assumed that she is less likely to desert her community irrespective of her relationship. Most of the female participants detested and degraded Black men-white women relationships; They regarded them as meaningless, sex-based, and experimentation as an effort to reap some sort of benefits (Childs 2005, Wilkins 2012). The women in this study expressed how it was hurtful for Black women to see Black men in interracial relationships because to them, it represented Black men telling them they are not good enough (Childs 2005).

Although not specifically on the experiences of Black women per se, Wilkins (2012) sought to better understand the experience of Black college men about their interracial relationships (Wilkins 2012). She found that Black men's interracial relationships caused a residual tension between the Black men and Black women on campus. Important for my research is that these men saw Black women as regressive, basic, and bitter for how they viewed Black men's interracial relationships (Wilkins 2012). Even as these were not even relationships that Black women were physically in, the reaction that they had to it furthered the tension between the Black women on this campus and their Black male peers.

It is important to note that there is a great deal of pressure that encourages Black women to date interracially in order to resolve their marriage deficit. Some of this public attention blames Black women for their low marriage rates since many prefer to date Black men and do not want to look outside of their race for potential marriage partners (Romano 2018). In 2012, Ralph Richard Banks a legal scholar, argued that in response to the declining marriage rates for Black people, Black women should consider marrying outside of their race. However, Leong (2012), another legal scholar, critiqued Banks' argument, stating that all races suffer from a shortage of men in the middle class and encouraging Black women to date outside their race complicates the marriage markets for all women. She argued that Black women should marry down, instead of out, since refusing to do so intensifies already existing income inequality, as well as increasing the stigmas associated with low wage earners. Leong (2012) maintained that

marrying down is just as much of a solution to the declining marriage rates as marrying 'out' and should both be considered an equally viable solution (Leong 2012).

Consistent with Leong's argument, research shows that Black women—especially those who are college educated—are mostly interested in dating Black men (DePass 2006; Lewis 2012). Most Black women understand that the plight of Black men is not of their own making, and as Black women are most interested in marrying them, they take this into account (Abrams, Maxwell, and Belgrave 2018; Hurt et. Al 2014). Thus, for Black women, especially those who have attained graduate degrees, they often contend with the reality of marrying men who are either less educated, less accomplished, or both (Venator and Sawhill 2015).

Thus, there is a great deal of research that has detailed how social structural inequalities, including economic and educational inequality and mass incarceration of Black men contribute to Black women's declining marriage rates. Where scholars and journalists have interviewed Black men about their perceptions on declining marriage rates, and Black men have also written bestselling self-help books with suggestions on how Black women could resolve these issues for themselves, few scholars have actually spoken to Black women about how the aforementioned factors impact how they experience their intimate relationships. My project will fill this gap by speaking with Black women across class and educational backgrounds to better understand their experiences. My project will therefore address the issue of Black women's declining marriage rates from a diverse perspective of Black women.

Theoretical Perspective

I integrate symbolic interactionism, standpoint feminism, Black feminist thought, intersectionality, and components of critical race theory to guide my analysis of Black women's experiences navigating intimate marketplaces. Symbolic Interactionism (SI) is a sociological

theoretical perspective developed by George Herbert Mead and Herbert Blumer. The three major premises of SI are that (1) people act towards objects based on the meanings; (2) The meanings that people give to things emerges from interactions that they have with others; and (3) the meanings of these things are "handled in and modified through" the process of interpretation and interaction with the things themselves (Blumer 1969). Simply put, the SI perspective focuses on how people make sense of and interpret the world. This is considered a micro sociological perspective, since it focuses on analyzing the interactions between individuals and groups, as opposed to the workings of broader social structures. Symbols are considered the central focus of social life and are representative of larger ideas- this can include images, gestures, signs, and even the language that we use (Blumer 1969; 1986). Blumer (1986) suggests that to adopt an SI methodological approach, one must understand people not as simply responding to objects, but more precisely, as acting on them. Such actions are a result of the interpretation and assessment of the circumstances that they are presented. Employing an SI perspective will allow me to focus on the ways that Black women interpret their reality as they navigate intimate marketplaces (Blumer 1986).

I also integrate Standpoint Feminism as a way to ensure that I take seriously women's standpoints and the social, structural, and historical processes that shape this standpoint. Scholars associated with Standpoint Feminism argue that our standpoint, or our positionality, directly effects how we see and interpret the world (Smith 1987; Collins 2002). Sociologist Dorothy Smith (1987), a white woman, problematized the ways scholars created a universal or mainstream experience - a white man's experience - that discounted all other lived experiences. Smith argued that when we are able to evaluate institutions from the standpoint of women, people of color, or other marginalized and ignored groups, we are better able to understand how

institutions, such as work and family, uniquely affect different individuals placed within them (Smith 1987).

Patricia Hill Collins extended the fundamental premise of Standpoint Theory to the experiences of Black women in her book, Black Feminist Thought (BFT). Collins showed that BFT as a framework has existed as long as Black women themselves, but because Black women have long been silenced, it has also been suppressed. It is a line of activism that has been viewed as irrelevant because of the existence of civil rights Black progress narratives and the advances of first and second wave feminism. Upon understanding that neither feminism nor the civil rights movement explicitly pushed the needs and issues of Black women forward, Black women decided to take matters into their own hands and create their own space to organize for themselves. In short, it is a response to the observation that "All the Women are White, All the Men are Black, but Some of Us are Brave" (Hull, Scott, and Smith 1993). An activist ideology and scholarly theory, BFT centers around legitimizing the experiences of Black women and illuminates the poor treatment that Black women receive in all social arenas. Collins (2002) shows how Black women are agentic and knowledgeable beings and should be treated as such. For example, Black women come from very long lines of oral histories and generationally passed down truths that should be included when discerning between what is knowledge and what is not (Collins 2002). In addition, BFT challenges the oppressive imagery of Black women, such as the "Mammy, Matriarch, Sapphire, whore, and bulldagger" (Taylor 2017; Collins 2002). BFT was the guiding theoretical framework of the Combahee River Collective, who first named the concept of identity politics and accentuated the ways that existing as a Black woman is a cultural and a political experience because we are forced to confront our identity by recognizing the coexistence of race, class, and gender (Taylor 2017).

Patricia Hill Collins's groundbreaking work *Black Feminist Thought*, originally published in 1991, instantly became a seminal text in Black feminist and sociological theory (Collins 2002). In this text, Collins introduced the matrix of domination, which was the reframing of the idea of identity politics brought about by the Combahee River Collective and many others (Collins 2002; Taylor 2017) and a way of conceptualizing the intersecting systems of oppression and privilege that we all occupy. For example, a poor Black woman experiences the world such that she confronts racism, sexism, and classism simultaneously.

In the same year as the release of Patricia Hill Collin's Black Feminist Thought, Kimberlé Crenshaw published her work "Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A black Feminist Critique of Anti-discrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics" (1989) where she coined the term intersectionality, a concept similar to the matrix of domination. Like Collins, Crenshaw (2002) explains that rather than focusing on a single part of our identities, such as gender, race, and social class, we should instead consider the extent to which these intersections are compounded within the individual. Crenshaw also is one of the founders of Critical Race Theory (CRT), a framework created by legal scholars that calls attention to and challenges the structural and systemic manifestations of racism that are written into our legal system. CRT initially started to bring awareness to the structural barriers faced by Black academic faculty when trying to achieve tenure and breaks down the many ways that Black people are barred from trying to simply exist by criticizing legislation. The major components of CRT that will be useful for my project are intersectionality, criticisms of liberalism, and colorblind racism. Together, these provide a foundation to further evaluate the experiences of Black women while scrutinizing the prison industrial complex and the effects of mass incarceration on Black men.

I will frame this project using a lens that brings together Symbolic Interactionism,
Standpoint Feminism, Black Feminist Thought, Intersectionality, and components of Critical
Race Theory. Integrating these perspectives is useful because it allows me to situate Black
women's meaning making within a structural backdrop of inequality. Symbolic Interactionism
provides a micro theoretical backdrop that allows me to focus on the individualistic experiences
of Black women and the ways that they interpret their social worlds. Standpoint Feminism and
Black Feminist Thought create an epistemological foundation for my project by centering Black
women's experiences in ways that refute a universal narrative and account for structural power
dynamics. Intersectionality and Critical Race Theory provide me a lens through which to
understand how all of this is occurring within a system of structural racism that shapes how
Black women interpret and experience their intimate relationships.

CHAPTER 3. DATA AND METHODOLOGY

Most work examining unmarried Black women's experiences is either quantitative or authors choose not to involve Black women. Most studies use secondary survey data analysis to quantitatively compare the experiences of Black and white women, to examine how socioeconomic status impacts marriage markets, and to explore how the state of Black men related to that of Black women. While these studies have been incredibly useful in creating a backdrop for Black women's relationship experiences, they fall short of actually capturing their lived realities. In research, Black women are often either ignored or spoken for, rather than spoken to. I aim to change that by holistically centering my entire process around Black women: I use frameworks developed by Black female scholars, centering much of my framework within Black feminist theory and theorists; I utilize a method specific to capturing the experiences of marginalized populations; I analyze the stories of Black women; and ultimately, I employ grounded theory to assure that the knowledge gained from these women continues to inform my work cyclically.

As a Black woman, taking this project on has been very personal to me as I knew that I wanted to do it *right*. So much that had previously been done, especially projects directed towards Black women, perceived the experiences of Black single womanhood as a position of lacking something and/or a problem that needed to be solved. While I wholeheartedly disagree with anything regarding Black women being even mildly associated with lack, I wanted to empirically build a project that gave Black women the opportunity to shape, label, and theorize their experiences on their own without the intervention of anyone unlike themselves. While being a member of this community easily allowed me the physiological access to be the one to facilitate this process, I still had to actively work to check other portions of my intersecting status

positions to assure that I would not become my own barrier. I had to pay close attention to other aspects of my social status, such as my upbringing as a middle-class Black person and my educational attainment as I worked with as inclusive a group of Black women as possible. All in all, while my own experiences with dating and relationships acted as the catalyst for this project, it was my participants and my desire to share what I have been honored to capture from them that drove this work to completion. Data collected for this project is not meant to be generalizable, as that kind of research is best left to larger studies with random statistical samples. Instead, data from this project adds much needed narrative depth to the already existing statistical data. This project offers rich perspectives from Black women on their processes when engaging in marriage markets. It allows scholars to better understand the mechanisms employed by Black women when navigating intimate relationships. This project also gives insight to how Black women across education levels define their intimate journeys and how their relationship experiences play into larger social narratives cast on them.

Rationale for Research Methodology

I used focus groups to collect data on the experiences of Black women in intimate relationships. Being that relationships and intimacy are inherently personal and potentially sensitive topics, I made sure to use a methodology that allowed space for that sensitivity while also creating community. The testimonio methodology, a method most commonly used in Latin American research that focuses on revealing injustices and creating a space for resolution, served as a major inspiration for the direction I intended to take with this project.

Unlike the more common training of researchers to produce unbiased knowledge, *testimonio* challenges objectivity by situating the individual in communion with a collective experience marked by marginalization, oppression, or resistance. These approaches have resulted in new understandings about how marginalized communities build solidarity and respond to and resist dominant culture, laws, and policies that perpetuate inequity (Bernal, Burciaga and Carmona 2012).

The testimonio methodology employs storytelling, performative narration, and critical analysis of one's own experiences. It is described as both a method and a process utilized through the trajectory of one's research (Bernal, Burciaga and Carmona 2012). However, in honoring that this method is one reserved for the Latin American experience (Bernal, Burciaga and Carmona 2012: Reyes and Rodriguez 2012), I instead allowed myself to be inspired by the activist tenants of the testimonio methodology, while using focus groups as the main method for collecting my data. My work drew on the testimonio methodology by emphasizing solidarity and empowerment between the women who participated in the focus groups, juxtaposed against the larger social narratives cast on them by society.

I also shifted the focus from the objectivity of prior quantitative work to highlight the variation in experiences of the women. Feminist scholars have shown that small focus groups can act as therapeutic and empowering spaces that allow women to support each other in the retelling of their experiences while also giving them the opportunity to build off of one another (Madriz 2000, Roche and Goldberg Wood 2005). Similar to the testimonio methodology, focus groups have been found to create a space where women can engage in narrative storytelling that can shed a light on their experiences as a marginalized population (Carey-Webb 1996; Huber 2009; Reyes and Rodriguez 2012). I found this approach to be effective in creating a safe space for my respondents as they shared their experiences. During portions where respondents passionately expressed their feelings while narrating their past relationships, I was able to witness powerful displays of support from the other women as they rallied behind and championed each other. There were also times where the storytelling from one woman would segue into the storytelling of another as they built off of each other.

Recruitment and Sampling

For this project, I utilized non-probability multistage sampling with purposive sampling, and snowball sampling. My sampling was non-probability due to me not utilizing an overall list of my population, but rather found participants that were convenient to me. I engaged in multistage sampling by having a two-tiered sampling process where I employed both purposive and snowball sampling. Purposive sampling is choosing participants contingent upon them meeting certain criteria (Etikan, Musa, and Alkassim 2016). I engaged in convenient purposive sampling throughout my project, meaning that not only did I choose participants who fit my criteria, I gained my participants through means that were most easily accessible to me (Etikan, Musa, and Alkassim 2016). My participants all fit the following criterion: They all were single, cisgender, Black women who date men. Participants were also marked for the following education level groupings: High school graduate, associate degree/ trade school graduate, bachelor's degree graduate, and graduate/ professional school graduate. As I highlighted earlier, Black experiences are far from monolithic and I wanted to make sure that I was able to identify some of these experiential differences and identify trends based on education level (Collins 2002; Frazier 1958; Harris-Perry 2011; Patillo 2013; Wilson 1987). Additionally, education level is often used as a socioeconomic status indicator (Galobardes, Shaw, Lawlor, Lynch, and Smith 2006). While I never explicitly asked respondents about their income level, as that question is notorious for being skipped in survey research, I am able to infer some class differences based on trends by education level as well. Lastly, all participants were at least 18 years of age, unmarried, and had some experience dating.

Using convenient purposive sampling, participants were recruited through my social networks (Etikan, Musa, and Alkassim 2016). I reached out to friends, family, and acquaintances

who fit within the various educational attainment level groupings and asked that they share my recruitment flyer within their social media networks. Using Adobe Draw to create my illustration followed by Adobe Creative Express, formerly known as Adobe Spark, I crafted my flyer to attract participants to my study (see Appendix A). I personally circulated my flyer on both Instagram and Facebook, but primarily on Instagram. However, I was informed that my flyer was also circulated on Twitter. Additionally, my flyer was circulated by email through two different Black sorority organizations. As a result, 60 women in total responded to my fliers, although they did not all end up being participants in my research. I provided them a digital copy of the recruitment flyer, with a link to a preliminary survey that I used to collect demographic information as well as checked for eligibility to participate in the focus groups. I then used snowball sampling and asked all who participated in the preliminary survey to invite their peers to participate. And, at the conclusion of the survey, they were all provided with a link to share on their social media feeds. Following the initial response, eligible participants were added to an email list where an online scheduling poll was distributed. I then scheduled focus groups of 2-5 participants based on availability.

The focus groups had a total of 31 participants with mixed education levels. In terms of highest level education attained at the time of the study, five were high school graduates, two were trade school/ associate graduates, 17 completed bachelors degrees, six completed masters degrees, and one completed a PhD/ Professional Doctorate. Further, 11 participants were currently in school during the time of the study. Participant ages ranged from 22-40 years old. The majority of the participants were located in Louisiana (17), followed by California (5), New York (3), Texas (2), Washington DC (1), Missouri (1), Tennessee (1), and Alabama (1). The vast

majority of participants identified as single (26), with a few in relationships (3), one as widowed, and the last as "complicated."

Table 1. Participant Characteristics (N=31)

leslie 31 Single Los Angeles County, CA High School Diploma Straight Birdie 25 Single Los Angeles County, CA High School Diploma Straight Sindiade 26 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Straight Bienna 24 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Delia 25 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Straight Bienna 24 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Straight Bienna 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Bience 23 In a Relationship New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Winnie 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Bienle 22 Widowed New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Bienle 22 Widowed New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Bienle 23 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Bienle 23 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Bienle 23 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Bienle 22 "complicated" New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Bisexual Bienle Bienle 26 In a Relationship Houston, TX* Bachelors Degree Bisexual Bienle Bi	Name	Age	Relationship Status	Location	Highest Level of Education Completed	Sexual Orientation
Single Los Angeles County, CA High School Diploma Straight Schanade 26 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Straight Scienna 24 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Delia 25 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Straight Starissa 25 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Straight Starissa 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Strace 23 In a Relationship New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Winnie 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Winnie 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Straight Stelle 22 Widowed New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Straight Stelle 22 Widowed New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Straight Straight Straight New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Straight Straight Straight Straight New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Straight Straig	Leslie	31	Single	Los Angeles County, CA	High School Diploma	
Schanade 26 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Delia 24 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Delia 25 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Delia 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Delia 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Delia 27 Widowed New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Delia 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Bisexual Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Trade School Graduate Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Trade School Graduate Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 20 Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 20 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Delia 29 Single Memphis, TN Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Delia 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors	Birdie				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Delia 25 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Straight Clarissa 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Winnie 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Winnie 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Winnie 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Claris Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Bisexual Claris Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Bisexual Claris Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single Columbia, MO Master's Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Straight Claris Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Straight Claris Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Clar	Shanade			, ,	,	
Delia 25 Single Los Angeles County, CA Bachelors Degree Straight Clarissa 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Winnie 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Winnie 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Winnie 25 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Claris Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Bisexual Claris Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Bisexual Claris Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single Columbia, MO Master's Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Straight Claris Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Straight Claris Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Claris Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Clar	Sienna	24	Single	Los Angeles County, CA	Bachelors Degree	Bisexual
Frace 23 In a Relationship New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Winnie 25 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Belle 22 Widowed New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Straight Belle 22 Widowed New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Straight Straig	Delia					Straight
Winnie 25 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Belle 22 Widowed New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Fres 23 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frell 23 Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Bisexual Frell 23 Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Bisexual From 22 "complicated" New Orleans, LA Trade School Graduate Straight Frend Candace 26 In a Relationship Houston, TX* Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 In a Relationship Houston, TX* Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 28 Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 29 Single Columbia, MO Master's Degree Straight Frend Candace 20 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Frend Candace 20 Single New Horleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 29 Single Memphis, TN Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 29 Single Baton Rouge, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 29 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Straight Frend 29 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 27 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 28 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 29 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 26 Single Fallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Frend 27 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend 29 Singl	Klarissa	25	Single	New Orleans, LA	Bachelors Degree	Straight
Belle 22 Widowed New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Bisexual Fess 23 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frell 23 Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Bisexual From 22 "complicated" New Orleans, LA Trade School Graduate Straight Frend Candace 26 In a Relationship Houston, TX* Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 In a Relationship Houston, TX* Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 In a Relationship Houston, TX* Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 In a Relationship Houston, TX* Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 27 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 28 Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 29 Single Columbia, MO Master's Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Frend Candace 26 Single Memphis, TN Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 27 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 27 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Frend Candace 26 Straight Frend Candace 26 Straight Frend Candace 26 Strai	Grace	23	In a Relationship	New Orleans, LA	Bachelors Degree	Bisexual
Pess 23 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Bisexual Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Bisexual Single New Orleans, LA Trade School Graduate Straight Candace 26 In a Relationship Houston, TX* Bachelors Degree Straight Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Single Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Single New Orleans, LA PhD/Professional Degree Straight Single Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Single Mamphis, TN Bachelors Degree Bisexual Sheryis 26 Single Mashington, DC Master's Degree Straight Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Single Baton Rouge, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Straight Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Straight Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Straight Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Straight Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Straight Single Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Straight S	Winnie	25	Single	New Orleans, LA	High School Diploma	Straight
Freil 23 Single New Orleans, LA Associates Degree Bisexual Tyona 22 "complicated" New Orleans, LA Trade School Graduate Straight Candace 26 In a Relationship Houston, TX* Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 29 Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 20 Single Columbia, MO Master's Degree Straight Candace 20 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Candace 20 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Candace 20 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Straight Candace 21 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Straight Candace 21 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Straight Candace 22 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 21 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 22 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 24 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 25 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 27 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 20 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 20 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 20 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 20 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Candace 20 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Belle	22	Widowed	New Orleans, LA	Bachelors Degree	Bisexual
Tyona 22 "complicated" New Orleans, LA Trade School Graduate Straight Candace 26 In a Relationship Houston, TX* Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 26 In a Relationship Houston, TX* Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candace 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Candac Ca	Tess	23	Single	New Orleans, LA	Bachelors Degree	Straight
Candace26 In a RelationshipHouston, TX*Bachelors DegreeStraightCiff27 SingleNew Orleans, LAMaster's DegreeStraightDeziree28 SingleNew Orleans, LABachelors DegreeStraightCilly26 SingleNew Orleans, LABachelors DegreeStraightCilly22 SingleNew Orleans, LABachelors DegreeStraightCirystionna25 In a RelationshipBaton Rouge, LAPhD/Professional DegreeStraightCirystionna25 In a RelationshipBaton Rouge, LAPhD/Professional DegreeStraightCirystionna26 SingleGarland, TexasBachelors DegreeStraightCirystionna26 SingleColumbia, MOMaster's DegreeStraightCivystionna40 SingleNew Orleans, LAHigh School DiplomaStraightCivysionna25 SingleMemphis, TNBachelors DegreeBisexualCiberyis26 SingleWashington,DCMaster's DegreeStraightCivilly29 SingleNew York, NY*Master's DegreeStraightCourtney29 SingleNew York, NY*Bachelors DegreeStraightCiobahn25 SingleNew York, NY*Bachelors DegreeStraightCimpet26 SingleTallassee, AlabamaMaster's DegreeStraightCimpet30 SingleNew Orleans, LABachelors DegreeStraightCirystonna30 SingleNew Orleans, LABachelors DegreeStraight	Trell	23	Single	New Orleans, LA	Associates Degree	
Fiff 27 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Deziree 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Tya 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Tya 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Tystionna 25 In a Relationship Baton Rouge, LA PhD/Professional Degree Straight Tystionna 25 In a Relationship Baton Rouge, LA PhD/Professional Degree Straight Tystionna 26 Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Tystionna 26 Single Columbia, MO Master's Degree Straight Tystionna 27 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Tystionna 28 Single Memphis, TN Bachelors Degree Bisexual Tystionna Straight Tystionna 29 Single Washington, DC Master's Degree Straight Tystionna Tystionna Straight Tystionna	Tyona	22	"complicated"	New Orleans, LA	Trade School Graduate	Straight
Deziree 28 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Tya 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Tilly 22 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 25 In a Relationship Baton Rouge, LA PhD/Professional Degree Straight Trystionna 25 In a Relationship Baton Rouge, LA PhD/Professional Degree Straight Trystionna 26 Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 26 Single Columbia, MO Master's Degree Straight Trystionna 27 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Trystionna 28 Single Memphis, TN Bachelors Degree Bisexual Trystionna 29 Single Washington, DC Master's Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single Baton Rouge, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Bisexual Trystionna 29 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Candace	26	In a Relationship	Houston, TX*	Bachelors Degree	Straight
Tya 26 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Tilly 22 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 25 In a Relationship Baton Rouge, LA PhD/Professional Degree Straight Trystionna 25 In a Relationship Baton Rouge, LA PhD/Professional Degree Straight Trystionna 25 In a Relationship Baton Rouge, LA PhD/Professional Degree Straight Trystionna 25 Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 26 Single Columbia, MO Master's Degree Straight Trystionna 26 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Trystionna 27 Single Memphis, TN Bachelors Degree Bisexual Trystionna 28 Single Memphis, TN Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single Baton Rouge, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Bisexual Trystionna 29 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Trystionna 29 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Tiff	27	Single	New Orleans, LA	Master's Degree	Straight
Tilly 22 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Crystionna 25 In a Relationship Baton Rouge, LA PhD/Professional Degree Straight Brightly 26 Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Dessa 26 Single Columbia, MO Master's Degree Straight Dessa 26 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Dessis 25 Single Memphis, TN Bachelors Degree Bisexual Description 26 Single Washington, DC Master's Degree Straight Description 27 Single Baton Rouge, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Description 28 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Bisexual Description 29 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Description 25 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Description 26 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Description 26 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Description 30 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Description 30 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Description 30 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Description 30 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Description 30 Straight Description 30 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Description 30 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight Description 30 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Deziree	28	Single	New Orleans, LA	Bachelors Degree	Straight
Crystionna 25 In a Relationship Baton Rouge, LA PhD/Professional Degree Straight Brightly 26 Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Alessa 26 Single Columbia, MO Master's Degree Straight Gowen 40 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Sis 25 Single Memphis, TN Bachelors Degree Bisexual Theryis 26 Single Washington, DC Master's Degree Straight Mel 24 Single Baton Rouge, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Courtney 29 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Bisexual Siobahn 25 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Gunset 27 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Amber 26 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Straight Master's Degree Straight Master's Degree Straight Master's Degree Straight Master's Degree Straight New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Туа	26	Single	New Orleans, LA	Bachelors Degree	Straight
Brightly 26 Single Garland, Texas Bachelors Degree Straight Messa 26 Single Columbia, MO Master's Degree Straight Mewen 40 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Sis 25 Single Memphis, TN Bachelors Degree Bisexual Theryis 26 Single Washington,DC Master's Degree Straight Mel 24 Single Baton Rouge, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Courtney 29 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Bisexual Siobahn 25 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Sunset 27 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Amber 26 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Shony 30 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Tilly	22	Single	New Orleans, LA	Bachelors Degree	Straight
Nessa 26 Single Columbia, MO Master's Degree Straight Swen 40 Single New Orleans, LA High School Diploma Straight Sis 25 Single Memphis, TN Bachelors Degree Bisexual Theryis 26 Single Washington, DC Master's Degree Straight Mel 24 Single Baton Rouge, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Courtney 29 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Bisexual Siobahn 25 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Sunset 27 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Amber 26 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Shony 30 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Crystionna	25	In a Relationship	Baton Rouge, LA	PhD/Professional Degree	Straight
Gwen40 SingleNew Orleans, LAHigh School DiplomaStraightsis25 SingleMemphis, TNBachelors DegreeBisexualTheryis26 SingleWashington,DCMaster's DegreeStraightMel24 SingleBaton Rouge, LABachelors DegreeStraightCourtney29 SingleNew York, NY*Master's DegreeBisexualGiobahn25 SingleNew York, NY*Bachelors DegreeStraightGunset27 SinglePoughkeepsie, NYBachelors DegreeStraightAmber26 SingleTallassee, AlabamaMaster's DegreeStraightGbony30 SingleNew Orleans, LABachelors DegreeStraightTene38 SingleNew Orleans, LAMaster's DegreeStraight	Brightly	26	Single	Garland, Texas	Bachelors Degree	Straight
Sis 25 Single Memphis, TN Bachelors Degree Bisexual Theryis 26 Single Washington, DC Master's Degree Straight Mel 24 Single Baton Rouge, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Courtney 29 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Bisexual Siobahn 25 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Sunset 27 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Amber 26 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Shony 30 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Straight Straight Straight Mester's Degree Straight Master's Degree Straight Straight Master's Degree Straight Straight Master's Degree Straight	Nessa	26	Single	Columbia, MO	Master's Degree	Straight
Theryis 26 Single Washington,DC Master's Degree Straight Mel 24 Single Baton Rouge, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Courtney 29 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Bisexual Siobahn 25 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Sunset 27 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Amber 26 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Shony 30 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight There's Degree Straight Master's Degree Straight Straight Master's Degree Straight Straight Master's Degree Straight Master's Degree Straight	Gwen	40	Single	New Orleans, LA	High School Diploma	Straight
Mel 24 Single Baton Rouge, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Courtney 29 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Bisexual Siobahn 25 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Sunset 27 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Amber 26 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Sbony 30 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Tene 38 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Isis	25	Single	Memphis, TN	Bachelors Degree	Bisexual
Courtney 29 Single New York, NY* Master's Degree Bisexual Siobahn 25 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Sunset 27 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Amber 26 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Sbony 30 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Tene 38 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Theryis	26	Single	Washington,DC	Master's Degree	Straight
Siobahn 25 Single New York, NY* Bachelors Degree Straight Sunset 27 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Amber 26 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Sbony 30 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Tene 38 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Mel	24	Single	Baton Rouge, LA	Bachelors Degree	Straight
Sunset 27 Single Poughkeepsie, NY Bachelors Degree Straight Amber 26 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Sbony 30 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight Tene 38 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Courtney	29	Single	New York, NY*	Master's Degree	Bisexual
Amber 26 Single Tallassee, Alabama Master's Degree Straight Ebony 30 Single New Orleans, LA Bachelors Degree Straight rene 38 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Siobahn	25	Single	New York, NY*	Bachelors Degree	Straight
Sbony30 SingleNew Orleans, LABachelors DegreeStraightrene38 SingleNew Orleans, LAMaster's DegreeStraight	Sunset	27	Single	Poughkeepsie, NY	Bachelors Degree	Straight
rene 38 Single New Orleans, LA Master's Degree Straight	Amber	26	Single	Tallassee, Alabama	Master's Degree	Straight
	Ebony	30	Single	New Orleans, LA	Bachelors Degree	Straight
Kelleigh 23 Single Baton Rouge, LA High School Diploma N/A*	Irene	38	Single	New Orleans, LA	Master's Degree	Straight
	Kelleigh	23	Single	Baton Rouge, LA	High School Diploma	N/A*

^{*}Respondent wrote in "I'm into everyone and I don't like labels"

Focus Groups

Focus groups conducted in person were conducted in a private enclosed space. Privacy varied during Zoom focus groups based on what the respondents were able to facilitate. The focus groups did not exceed 120 minutes. I informed all participants that this is an IRB approved

study and provided them with a written and verbal consent statement. Once I obtained their consent, I audio (and in some cases video) recorded all focus groups. This varied due to changes from Covid; earlier focus groups held in person were only audio recorded while zoom groups were both audio and video recorded.

Focus groups were semi-structured and followed an interview guide. I began each focus group with a non-essential ice-breaker question to stimulate the conversation. The ice breaker allowed respondents to get used to talking with a lightweight and fun question before my research questions came up.

I asked the following questions in each focus group:

- 1. Data from the 2010 Census reports reveal that Black women are the least likely across all race and gender categories to get married. How do you feel about this statistic? How does it resonate with your own experiences?
- 2. Now, let's talk about your experiences with dating.
 - a. How do you usually meet the guys you date?
 - b. Do you ever date outside of your race? Can you tell me about some of these experiences?
- 3. Now, let's talk about marriage.
 - a. To what extent do you want to get married?
 - b. What does marriage mean to you?
 - c. Have you ever felt pressure to get married? From what sources?
- 4. Several scholars speculate that one of the potential causes of the decline in Black women's marriage rates is that so many Black men are financially unstable, unemployed,

or have criminal records. Some talk about this pattern by using the language of "unmarriageable" or "marriageable" men for Black women.

- a. To what extent do you think about these things when you are dating or in a relationship?
- b. What specific characteristics would make you consider a man to be marriageable?
- c. Have you ever dated or married what would consider down?
- 5. There is not a lot of research that actually asks Black women about their experiences with dating and relationships, so I want to ask if you think I am missing anything?
- 6. Do you have any questions for me about this project or myself?

Based on the direction of the conversation, I added additional questions or probed for more information. I concluded each focus group by asking the participants if there is anything I missed that they feel is important for my research and if there anything they would like to ask me.

My first focus group was conducted live in December of 2019 in Pasadena, CA. I was able to utilize a private art studio space for the group where I provided light refreshments. I audio recorded this group on two separate devices to make sure I wouldn't lose any information due to technical difficulties. This group consisted of five women, three of whom I knew and two I didn't. The two women I didn't know were snowball recruited by one of the other participants that I did know. Three of the women had earned their bachelor's degree, while the remaining two were high school graduates. None of the women were currently in school. Prominent themes that arose within this particular group were respectability, religious influence, and colorism. In my post interview memo of this group experience, it occurred to me that the context through which I

knew these women may have impacted the first two themes as two out of the three I knew through church, and the third I knew from my undergraduate college experience, which was a Catholic university. The women who were snowball sampled by one of the women I knew from church also indicated a heavy church influence in their life and that being a major part of their connection as well.

My second focus group was conducted live in January of 2020 in New Orleans, LA. Since this group consisted of women who I would consider all to be close friends of mine, while most did not know each other, I felt comfortable conducting this particular group in my home. I also recorded this group on two separate devices. I served light refreshments and then we got started. This group ended up being my longest group probably because of how comfortable each individual was with me in particular. Prominent themes within this discussion were self improvement, an exodus from church, and polyamorous households. I did notice this group mirroring a lot of my current stances as many of these people I met during a more recent and transitional stage in life. I also participated and engaged consistently in this group because of my level of familiarity with the women and my own genuine interest in the conversation.

Following the first two groups, the COVID 19 Pandemic started and we were put on lockdown until further notice. I then moved all of my focus groups to a virtual platform which allowed that I both audio and video record my participants. The remaining six focus groups were conducted in 2 waves--- one in May of 2020 and the second in October of 2020. In both cases, I recruited heavily for about a week, and in the following week hosted three focus groups back-to-back. I used the gap between these two waves to decompress, prepare for the second wave, and to write analytical memos about my experiences with the women.

The first group in the first wave of this series consisted of four women – three of whom I knew and one who I didn't. Two of those I knew from my undergraduate schooling and the third was a local business owner and service provider that I was familiar with. The fourth organically came across my study through twitter (the one social media platform that I did not post my flyer on myself). This particular group was unique due to having a lot of tension as the women repeatedly found themselves in a debate regarding the fault of Black men as it related to the relationship status and experiences of Black women. This continued throughout the entirety of the focus group.

The second group in the first wave only included two women and was my smallest focus group. I knew one of the participants from my undergrad schooling and did not know the other, but they knew each other. This was also my shortest focus group but I'd attribute this to the number of participants. Prominent themes that arose within this group were desirability and self-improvement, specifically as it relates to the pursuit of education. I also found this group to be a bit more sterile than the others with the women providing relatively short answers throughout the discussion. I did find that they shared more in the end once I opened the floor for them to ask me questions. Once I shared my experiences in answering their questions, I found that this pair immediately felt more comfortable and began freely sharing more of their experiences in an unguided context at the very end of the focus group. It also seemed that they felt that their experience was lacking due to their small group size as they asked to participate in a larger focus group in the future if it was something that I would allow.

The third group in the first wave consisted of three women – two that I knew and one that I did not. One of the two I knew from undergrad and the second was a friend of a friend. None of these participants knew each other at all. However, this discussion was very fruitful. A

prominent theme that arose from this group was self-defining. The women talked a lot about not relying on what society wanted for them but making sense of their desires for themselves.

The first group of the second wave of focus groups in October consisted of five women, three of which I knew – one from grad school, the second from undergrad, and the third from my social circles. The remaining respondents were close friends to the respondent from my social circles. This group stood out to me because of the vast experiences of the women in the group and their very high levels of self-awareness. They constantly analyzed themselves as they responded to the questions and were very socially aware. This may have been due to one of the respondents also being in a sociology graduate program with me, and two others who work in the social and behavioral sciences. Prominent themes from this group were self-improvement and knowing their worth. This group also suffered heavily from technical difficulties as my wifi cut out at least twice during the conversation. Luckily, it continued recording and no conversation was lost. Also, near the end of the discussion, one participant had to leave early and texted the remainder of her answers to me.

The second group of the third wave consisted of four respondents which I knew and who did not know each other. Two of the women I knew through school, one from my social circles and the last being a hair client of mine. This group was one of my most educated as 3 of the four women had attained master's degrees with two of those three currently in school for their doctorates. This group had a large age gap as well which contributed to the drastic array of experiences that were presented here. This group stood out as seemingly having a strong desire to want to be married but similar to the previous group, spoke a lot about self-improvement and knowing their worth, in addition to in-depth discussion on what they would be willing to tolerate in a romantic relationship.

The last group of the third wave consisted of three women, two that I knew and one that I did not – one being a friend of a friend and another I knew through family. The third was referred to me by a colleague. This group also had a large age gap in addition to a wide span of education levels with two having attained high school diplomas and the third a juris doctorate. Still, these women meshed incredibly well despite not knowing each other and were easily able to make light of tougher portions of the conversation. Age differences were taken into account and discussed within the findings. Prominent themes in this group were desirability and familial impact on their perspectives and experiences.

Analysis

Data analysis consisted of a multi-step coding process adopted from constructivist grounded theory (Charmaz 2014). After transcribing the focus groups verbatim, I imported all transcriptions into ATLAS.ti, a digital software used to assist in qualitative data analysis. I began the coding process using open coding, where I coded all focus groups line by line to identify common themes and patterns and generate as many codes as possible. Within this stage, I used a lot of organizational coding webs centering around the following themes: meaning of marriage, pressure to marry, constructing marriageable man, meeting men, extra conversations, and suggestions. Each of these codes had various sub-categories that I used to organize respondent responses. I used a lot of respondent's own language to form codes that I later condensed as I began to notice pattens. Next, I used focused coding to narrow down the coding scheme once themes became apparent within the initial open coding process. I achieved this both through recoding original codes as well as thematically tailoring the directions of my codes based on my participants responses (Charmaz 2014).

Some of these condensed patterns that I found later became the codes that ultimately captured the themes that shaped my findings. These codes were desirability, self-improvement, being impacted by parents/family, religious language, defining marriage, negotiating ideas of dating down, negotiating criminal background, and constructing the ideal marriageable man. Desirability was a theme that appeared throughout the focus group conversations as the respondents constantly evaluated what they thought men thought of them. Self-improvement often came up following discussion surrounding pressures to marry and dating down where respondents would outline the ways that they were prioritizing themselves in their lives. Being impacted by parents/family came up often as respondents pretty regularly drew significant portions of their understanding from examples from their families. Religious language was coded throughout as I noticed participants leaning on biblical jargon to explain their relationship experiences or requirements. Defining marriage, negotiating ideas of dating down and constructing the ideal marriageable man were all themes that were directly associated with explicit questions asked on those particular topics. Negotiating criminal background, however, was both linked to the question regarding dating down, but it also came up frequently whenever statistics on Black women's dating came up, or when the participants were explaining and attempting to justify their decisions in past relationships.

Consistent with the tenets of constructivist grounded theory, my coding process was informed by sensitizing concepts derived from the existing literature rather than hypotheses. Primary code groups during analysis were family, pressures, dating experiences, interracial relationships, marriageable man, and meaning of marriage. I allowed the themes that arose from my participants to shape my coding and analysis process. Additionally, I accounted for the demographics of my participants to differentiate between the themes that may present themselves

across the different groups. I did this through collecting demographic information through preliminary surveys and connecting the respondents' identifiers to the groups that they participated in.

Reflexivity and Positionality

Writing this project has been a very personal experience to me as I was wholly inspired to embark on this journey due to my own experiences and conversations that I've had with others. As a fellow Black woman who dates men, and one who has dedicated a significant portion of my graduate academic career to studying dating, I have constantly found myself hyper analyzing my own experiences whenever things didn't pan out. I was in the constant search for the reason why or wondering if I was alone in these particular exchanges with men. I immersed myself in literature validating the experiences of Black women, and often found myself falling into rabbit holes of Black feminist theory and particularly the work of Patricia Hill Collins. I read about the concept of "Smart Ugly" from the Combahee River Collective (Taylor 2017) and Collin's (2000) interpretation of the Black Lady trope and instantly resonated with these less than favorable iterations of Black womanhood.

In a preliminary focus group that I held with a group of Black women going over their experiences on dating apps, I remember one of my participants, and very close friends, stating, "Telling a guy I'm about to graduate with my law degree is just as bad as like if I were telling them I had a child... everything changes" – and I knew exactly what she was talking about. I felt that change when I got my master's degree, when I purchased my house, and the closer I got to my doctorate. I was regularly discouraged and frustrated by the poor outcomes of my attempts at relationships, but the researcher in me was incredibly intrigued. Statements like hers played a huge role in helping to validate me along this journey in trying to shed a light on what it actually

was like for Black women as we attempted to pursue partnership. While I had accrued a significant amount of anecdotes from Black female scholars intellectualizing these trends, I wanted to try my hand at creating a platform for these stories and experiences to be told by Black women in an impactful way.

However, my closeness to this project has been somewhat of a double-edged sword for me as I have had to maintain a high sense of awareness of the imprint that I leave on my research. I was concerned by the extent to which my networks would impact my recruitment due to my class background and education level. I have often prioritized telling the stories of the Black middle class due to their misrepresentation in the literature because of their assumed success and societal graduation from poverty and the barriers of systemic racism (Collins 1983). However, in this project, I wanted to include women across the spectrum of class and educational backgrounds to capture the experiences of Black women more holistically. However, I realized that I have very limited access to working class Black women and struggled to gain access within those communities simply because of who I am, and what I had and hadn't been exposed to over the course of my life (Collins 1983, Wilson 1987). Still, I was committed to overcoming this positional shortcoming of mine to have as inclusive a group of Black women as I could achieve.

While I am aware of the overrepresentation of middle-class Black women in my project, I am proud of the representation that I was able to achieve of women without degrees, not simultaneously working to attain a degree. I also am proud of my recruitment of women who weren't just young adults. Collins (2000) often speaks of empowering all Black women as sources of knowledge and I didn't want my project to claim to have a commitment to dismantling the perceived monolithic existence of Blackness but only capture one iteration of the

Black female experience because I didn't go outside of my own networks and comforts to prioritize representation. It is my belief that these inclusions added a certain amount of depth to my research that had I remained in an echo chamber of myself and my peers, I would not have been able to achieve. With my goal number of participants being 30 which led me to stop data collection at my 31st participant, I was able to collect rich data that demonstrated clear signs of saturation and that showcased several trends across the various experiences of Black womanhood (Fusch and Ness 2015).

CHAPTER 4. LOVE AFTER LOCKUP

In the 1980s, the number of Black female college graduates will far excel the number of comparable males. Yet, most of these women will accept nothing less than a mate of similar educational level. This is a function of their acceptance of Euro-Americans' emphasis on status homogeneity as the basis for marriage.

-- Staples, 1979, p. 156

Themes of respectability have consistently been the paradigm through which Black women's actions have been viewed. When originally discussed by Evelyn Brooks Higginbotham, the politics of respectability are discussed as a strategy employed by Black women to propel themselves through impression management with the ultimate goal of improving the perspective of the race both socially and politically (Higgenbotham 1994). By more recent scholarship, respectability politics is discussed strategically more as a means of survival and class elevation (Cooper 2018). While this is not significantly off base from its original use, the current context is less nuanced and more absolute than the original work of Higgenbotham (Higgenbotham 1994, Cooper 2018).

Staples (1979) discusses the trends in singleness for Black people and middle class Black women in particular. He, along with other scholars, covers various reasons why we're seeing increasing numbers of Black women intentionally deciding against marriage (Porter and Bronzaft 1995, Staples 1979). Staples (1979) states that many Black women "are willing to settle for a troublesome life of singleness than accept a conflict-ridden marriage" (pg. 152), while later citing men who do not meet their standard of marriageability as a conflict for these women. This represents an overall obligation to respectability when Black women are considering the significance of mate selection. Oftentimes, women with these astringent standards are informed by dominant White Anglo Saxon Protestant (WASP) culture and an intentional rejection of the negative tropes often applied to Black women, such as the 'Welfare Queen' or the 'Jezebel'

(Collins 2000, Harris Perry 2011, Staples 1979). While Staples (1979) focuses on middle class Black women, this notion is also reiterated within the context of working-class women, who specifically decide against men with criminal records for the sake of upholding the sanctity of marriage (Edin and Kefalas 2005). Much of this was also heavily reinforced by middle class Black culture which also prides itself in the guise of respectability for the sake of acculturation at the very least, and assimilation at large (Bell 1991, Collins 2000, Frazier 1997).

However, my findings show an overall dissent from these trends as my respondents move away from a reliance on respectability within marriage markets to seriously considering men with criminal backgrounds as viable partners. Racial realism (Bell 1991) is a useful framework for understanding this pattern. The concept of racial realism basically embodies the idea that racism is engrained into American society and will never be going anywhere (Bell 1991, Martin 2022). Therefore, when addressing it, rather than taking a respectable approach with the hopes of assimilation, Bell encourages agitation of the system (Bell 1991). Within this context, that agitation could take the form of a rejection of respectability in dating. This doesn't necessarily mean a lowering of standards but taking a more inclusive approach that doesn't discount potential mates on the basis of partnering to reach a systemically impossible societal standard or one that was never meant to include Black women in the first place. Mass incarceration is one of many systems upholding racism operating within American society and unfortunately, significant portions of Black men find themselves intertwined within its grips at some capacity or another (Alexander 2010, Western and Wildeman 2009). Bell (1991: pgs 373-374) states:

Black people will never gain full equality in this country... We must acknowledge it and move on to adopt policies based on what I call: 'Racial Realism.' This mindset or philosophy requires us to acknowledge the permanence of our subordinate status. That acknowledgement enables us to avoid despair, and frees us to imagine and implement racial strategies that can bring fulfillment and even triumph.

Consequently, some scholars argue that racial realism has opened the gateway to current theories of Afro-pessimism in arguing the permanence of racism (Ray et. Al. 2017), a concept that remains debated although Bell stands firm in his position (Bell 1993). In taking a fresh look at my data through the lens of Racial Realism, seeing my respondents hold space for the impacts of mass incarceration is arguably an implementation of a 'racial strategy' that both frees Black women from the grips of respectability while potentially offering 'fulfillment' and 'triumph' to their love lives through broadening their prospects by including a significant proportion of Black men who might otherwise be discounted.

Alternatively, Leong (2012) previously offered Black women the solution of dating down in her rebuttal to Banks' (2010) work suggesting that Black women should date interracially to solve their marriage crisis. Leong (2012) urges scholars to destignatize the conversation of dating down with Black women as dating interracially or dating out would create a snowball effect that would then detrimentally impact dating pools for all women. It is important to note that this is a phenomenon that supersedes race as scholars have also found patterns supporting that highly educated women would rather forego marriage than marry down (Litcher, Anderson, and Haywood 1995). However, still, scholars consistently find that when Black women do marry, as compared to their white counterparts, they are significantly more likely to find themselves in unions with someone both less educated, in a non-professional job, and of a lower overall class status (Banks 2010, Litcher et.al 1995). Assuming that marriage is the goal, ultimately, Leong (2012) argues that in making dating down less of a negative, it reduces the barriers that exist towards lower class individuals.

Mass Incarceration and Black Women's Dating Experiences

There are many ways that lower class can be interpreted beyond income and education. Criminal involvement is often also considered a measure of social class, as it directly impacts ones class and overall access in greater society (Western and Wildeman 2009; Pettit and Lyons 2009). Ultimately, this aligns with the rhetoric of dating down, because many women take this into consideration alongside the aforementioned attributes when determining the marriageability of a man (Wilson 1987). Unfortunately, this is an issue that disproportionately impacts Black men (Western 2002; Western and Wildeman 2002; Wildeman and Wang 2017), which just so happen to be Black women's primary focus and preference when seeking a romantic partner (Banks 2010).

The 13th amendment, mass incarceration, and the prison industrial complex are all phenomena that have plagued the Black community essentially since the end of slavery. The 13th amendment states, "Neither slavery nor involuntary servitude, except as a punishment for crime whereof the party shall have been duly convicted, shall exist within the United States, or any place subject to their jurisdiction" (US Constitution). This created a loophole in the perceived "end" of slavery that it could indeed continue to exist if the person has been convicted of a crime (Alexander 2010). This incentivized over policing, arresting, and convicting people, disproportionately Black people, for the sake of continuing the free labor this country had grown so accustomed to (Alexander 2010). This phenomenon was first referred to as convict leasing but later became known as mass incarceration. With its progression from loitering laws (Alexander 2010), drug crimes (Alexander 2010), sentencing discrepancies (Sentencing Project 2015), and more, today a lofty percentage of Black men are projected to and unfortunately face some sort of entanglement with the penal system at some point in their lives (Western 2002; Western and

Wildeman 2002; Wildeman and Wang 2017). Mass incarceration impacts various facets of homelife, and drastically impacts the financial circumstances of men who exit the system with any kind of record (Western and Wildeman 2009; Pettit and Lyons 2009).

Mass incarceration and the prison industrial complex (PIC) come hand in hand with the War on Drugs, especially with the help of politics and the media. The term War on Drugs was first made famous by Richard Nixon in his presidential campaign and signaled a snowball effect in the world of criminal justice (Alexander 2010, US Sentencing Commission 2007). While drug crimes do not equate to the entirety of inmates within prisons, the War on Drugs played a major role in the increases in arrests made during the time that the term was popularized. During Ronald Reagan's presidency, directly following Nixon, he and his wife started the "Just Say No" campaign and passed a slew of laws that contributed to the exponential increase in incarceration (US Sentencing Commission 2007). The Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1986 started the phenomena of mandatory minimums that took sentencing power away from judges (Alexander 2010, Davis and Shaylor 2001, US Sentencing Commission 2007). It created a mandatory minimum sentence for cocaine charges with a "five-year mandatory minimum penalty for first-time trafficking offense involving five grams or more of crack cocaine, or 500 grams or more of powder cocaine" in the federal system (US Sentencing Commission 2007). Ten-year mandatory sentences were given for ten times those amounts if a person was tried federally. The ratio between powder cocaine and crack cocaine notoriously became known as the "100-to-1 drug quantity ratio" and some states adopted these approaches as well (US Sentencing Commission 2007). The Anti-Drug Act of 1988 declared that simple possession would also qualify for these minimum sentences (US Sentencing Commission 2007). These sentencing minimums disproportionately impacted Black men over any other group (Davis and Shaylor 2001).

Harsh crime laws and policies continued with the next presidency with Clinton's 1994 Crime Bill. This particular bill increased federal funding for prisons, encouraged trying youth as adults, called for even more federal mandatory sentencing laws, encouraged more 'tough-on-crime' tactics to be adopted by the states, encouraged longer sentences once convicted, and countless other measures that exacerbated our already existing mass incarceration problem (Ofer 2019). Ultimately, all of these policies have resulted in their being more Black men incarcerated today than there were during slavery in the 1850's as well as more Black men being denied their right to vote through felon disenfranchisement than back in 1870, when laws were passed prohibiting voter disenfranchisement on the basis of race (Alexander 2010). Systemically, the 13th amendment, and all the laws passed since have had grave impacts on the already existing plight of the Black experience which has had a snowball effect in other facets of Black life, including romantic relationships (Alexander 2010; Edin and Kefalas 2005; Lepoo and Western 2005; Massoglia, Remster and King 2011).

Data in this chapter address how mass incarceration emerged in my respondents' narratives about their dating experiences. Mass incarceration and lack of finances were the primary concerns the women in my focus groups brought up when discussing men's marriageability and negotiating their idea of dating down. This discussion occurred after providing respondents with the following brief context of the concept of marriageability: Several scholars speculate that one of the potential causes of the decline in Black Women's marriage rates is that so many Black men are financially unstable, unemployed, or have criminal records. Some talk about this pattern by using the language of "unmarriageable" or "marriageable" men for Black women. This context is primarily based off of William Julius Wilson's (1987) Male Marriageable Pool Index and work done by Edin and Kefalas (2005) in their conversations

with low-income women on their decision whether or not to marry. In most cases, respondents were open minded to both the idea of a partner being less financially established than them and them having a criminal background. They did, however, take careful consideration with respect to crime in particular and spent more time breaking down the nuance of criminality as it relates to their willingness to date them or not. when addressing the love lives of Black women, a group known for wanting to date and marry intraracially (Banks 2010; Childs 2005), the prevalence of mass incarceration presents an especially difficult problem when considering the marriageability of a man. Within my project, the vast majority of the women spoke to making specific concessions when it came to a man's criminal record, be it the type of crime he committed, the time since he's committed a crime, the number of crimes committed, and more.

Love After Lockup

Responses gathered within this section primarily arose when respondents were answering the following question, "Have you ever dated or married down?" This comes after having already prompted the women regarding marriageability, as previously outlined, referencing the work of scholars who attempted to define the term. While women were explicitly prompted with criminal backgrounds in terms of marriageability, they never explicitly brought it up when outlining their ideal marriage partner. It only came up when the women were asked about dating down. Many of the responses were a result of prior relationship experiences of the women where they would attempt to defend their prior romantic choices and then would expand into what they would be willing to consider moving forward.

In most cases, one respondent would explicitly bring up a potential partner having a criminal record, detailing how they would navigate that possibility, and the remaining respondents would usually follow suit, giving their own qualifications in relation to criminality,

often agreeing with or affirming what the previous speaker outlined. This suggests that some respondents felt more comfortable to reveal their considerations for criminal behavior once they realized that they were not alone. This also suggests that there were some levels of social desirability at play as respondents attempted to manage their impressions within their respective groups, but as they witnessed each other displaying more and more transparency and vulnerability, the more reserved of them also felt safe enough to reveal information that they may have otherwise kept to themselves. These occurrences were consistent with the assertions of prior feminist scholars that usage of focus groups encouraged safe and supportive spaces for women, and women of color in particular, to comfortably share (Madriz 2000, Roche and Goldberg Wood 2005).

Codes for this section were primarily Negotiating Criminal Background, as well as Negotiating Idea of Dating Down, and Financial Expectations. Additionally, for each of my focus group transcriptions, I did a keyword search on ATLAS.ti for the words "criminal", "crime," "record" and "prison" to make sure that I captured every instance where respondents spoke on criminal backgrounds. Overall, I found that while this did come up in every focus group when discussing dating down, about half of the women focused specifically on the educational and financial aspects of dating down, while the other half made sure to touch on criminal behavior. Of all that discussed criminal behavior, only one stated that it was something that they absolutely would not accept.

"My Soulmate is in Jail"

Respondents within this project were hyperaware of the circumstances the Black community is structurally situated in. While many did not have exact figures, and I did not provide them at any point throughout any of the focus groups, they continuously referenced well

known statistics in regards to mass incarceration during this portion of the focus group. Belle, a 23 year old, widowed woman with a Bachelors degree, alludes to these grim statistics, "[The system] is not meant for us to succeed. Incarceration is pretty likely, like we see too many things like slavery by different names, etc. And it hasn't happened to you or maybe it hasn't happened to [your] dad... But it's happened to a lot of people in my family." As Belle explicitly references, legal scholar Michelle Alexander (2010) references the book by Douglas Blackmon by referring to mass incarceration as *Slavery by Another Name*, considering how it changed slavery from being entirely legal to it only being legal for those deemed criminals. In making this connection, Belle highlights her own awareness of the systemic racism that is targeting Black bodies and calling attention to the lack of control that Black men have within these circumstances (Alexander 2010).

In another example, Nessa, a 26 year old woman with a Masters degree, states, "The '94 Crime Bill that put like, a lot of Black men in prison for a long period of time. Which then made... small amounts of Black men available to date Black women." As is stated in the introduction to this chapter, Clinton's crime bill notoriously had grave impacts on the relationship between Black men and the criminal justice system (Ofer 2019). Nessa both points out a significant statistic, but takes it further by framing the plight of Black women's dating pool as being a direct result of these systemic realities.

After listening to her fellow participants list statistics about mass incarceration, Tess, a 23 year old woman with a Bachelors degree, exclaimed in frustration, "My soulmate is in jail," which we all took to mean literally. Trell, a 23 year old with her associates degree even repeated Tess's sentiments verbatim, considering the reality that as things currently stand, statistically, their soulmates very well may be incarcerated. Tess went on to say, "You know, honestly,

there's, there's so many black men who are incarcerated, that it's a declining chances of you finding someone who you're actually really interested in." There were also several other quotes reiterating Tess's sentiments within several other groups. Delia, a 25 year old woman with a Bachelors degree said, for example, "[F[or starters, I'd like to point out that I think we're at a disadvantage because a lot of black men are locked up. So, there's not a lot of black men out here from the get-go. So, that already makes it harder for us." Respondents repeatedly made a direct connection to the number of men they understood to be locked up and the viable prospects that were left available to them. They argued that the systemic discrimination and the incarceration of so many men made the likelihood of them finding someone they liked who was not incarcerated or didn't have some sort of record unlikely. It was as if they felt that the only logical way for them to alleviate this strain on their dating pool was to open up the consideration to men impacted by mass incarceration.

Belle, the 23 year old widowed woman, spoke on her deceased spouse later within the focus group and spoke about him also having a criminal history. She made a point to declare that his criminal history had absolutely no bearing on the man he was. She instead attributed his criminal background to the larger societal problem of mass incarceration, the prison industrial complex, and mandatory minimum sentencing that disproportionately impacts Black men. She explained her argument and viewpoints like this:

I don't know, I guess I'm a different perspective and I'm a real liberal bitch. I work with incarcerated youth and I know just how fucked up our justice system is. And so I'm really open to dating someone who's incarcerated. That's really not an issue for me. I'm not looking for to like have a prison lover. In terms of like A person who has experienced incarceration, I am open to seeing you. My conviction to who I would see is not based off society standard for a good person because most of its pretty anti black. like, Yes, college is not set up for most n*ggas just period.

Belle repeatedly spoke on her political stance and how that might also impact her perspective, but constantly backed up her perspective with the various facets of systemic racism within American society. Additionally in referencing college not being "set up" for Black people, she alludes to the many systemic barriers faced by Black people which essentially materializes as a snowball effect that ultimately impacts romantic relationships and intimate marketplaces for Black women. Lastly, Belle asserting that she is uninterested in adhering to societal standards and accused them of being "anti Black" directly ties back to the theories of racial realism juxtaposed against the Politics of Respectability. Belle is calling out these standards of discounting men with criminal histories as something that is regressive to Black progress. When we know that dating standards are not developed with systemic issues that impact Black men and women disproportionately in ways that are largely outside of our control, they can be seen as regressive to Black resilience.

Some women hinted at structural inequities figuring into their decision-making without explicitly referencing mass incarceration or societal statistics. For example, in another group, Tiff, a 27 year old woman with her Master's degree states:

So I've come across men who have a criminal past. I base the decision of whether I invest based on the way that they have responded to the trajectory that their decisions have made for their life. If they take it as, "I'm just defeated, and I'll take what I can get," then I know to move on. But if it's someone who's like, 'you know what, I made a mistake. But I'm working and I'm trying to find the loopholes where it's like, this isn't something that defines me," than that says something about their character. So, it's not necessarily writing them off for this thing that like, for the obstacle that they're not necessarily responsible for being their obstacles. But it's more so like, "ok well, this is something that I have to deal with. I'm aware that I have to deal with it. What can I do about it? How can I move around it? How can I overcome it?" Like, there's a mindset that I pay attention to. So I don't necessarily write someone off because of something that happened off of pattern.

While Tiff is making clear where she draws the line in her consideration of men with criminal records, as did many other respondents within the following section, she points out at the end of

her statement that she isn't going to not include someone because of a structural pattern. While Tiff doesn't outright list stats or figures in regards to mass incarceration, she does note that criminal history isn't just an issue of the individual but that of a larger patterns that exists beyond the person themselves. Overall, it is clear that Black women are not blind to what is occurring on a sociopolitical level within America and their views about dating reflect that. Both Belle and Tiff acknowledge the bigger picture of what is occurring outside of the interpersonal relationships that they could potentially foster with Black men. This continues to showcase Black women's level of awareness when pursuing Black men and tackling their slighted dating pools in the face of a society that both criticizes them if they do decide to partner or if they don't.

"I mean, you shouldn't be an active criminal"

Beyond directly citing statistics, respondents also frequently had well developed narratives characterizing what crimes would be acceptable for dating and potentially marrying, and which would not. Since for many, it seemed pretty much unavoidable to have Black men with criminal pasts in the dating pool, it was then necessary to weed out the good from the bad within that context. When asked about her willingness to date down, Nessa began her response lightly by stating, "I mean, you shouldn't be an active criminal." Nessa, a 26 year old woman with a Masters degree continues on to say:

If you had a rough, you know, a rough childhood and you know, you was playin' follow the leader when you were a teenager, and you found yourself caught up, and you've paid your debts to society, and you're on the right track, and you are actively like, uhhh you know, doing what you need to do to make a legal living... umm, I think that then that's something that we can discuss. But for me it's not just because you have a record, but we would need to sit down and talk about what's on that record. Like, is it a sex crime? Is it a drug crime? Like, you know, what is that?

Nessa points out a few different crimes in particular that would negatively catch her attention and ultimately result in her walking away. However, she still left room in the discussion for there to be crimes that wouldn't garner that response. Nessa points out that a conversation would be required to gain transparency and clarity on what the crimes at hand were for her to then make the final decision, but noting that much of this decision is based on the current trajectory of the man's life.

Irene, a 38 year old woman with a Masters degree stated something similar, "As far as the criminal record, they can have a criminal record... I work in the criminal system. I mean, the majority of our Black men that are back there, they are very smart. They just are a product of their environment." This correlates with Belle's sentiments earlier of criminal records having no bearing on the character of a man. Additionally, Irene's jobs close proximity to the criminal justice system, similar to Belle working with incarcerated youth also played a role in their acceptance of dating prospects with criminal records.

In the same vein, other respondents referenced their jobs or lifestyles having an impact on their level of leniency towards criminality. Brightly, a 26 year old woman with a Bachelors degree states:

I definitely think that depending on what you did in the past and how that's going to affect your future... it's a big deal. Because were you a murderer? Were you, you know, molesting children? Like, what was it? And then... I'm a teacher! So, a lot of my life is under a microscope including who I decide to get married to because it's like, public knowledge. And that unfortunately goes into my ability to teach. So, it's a lot of political stuff I think in there with the criminal part of it. So umm, I definitely am not looking for somebody that has done something bad. But again, I am an understanding person. So if it's something that happened when you were seventeen/eighteen/nineteen you know, because you were following the leader and you did something stupid, then ok, like, depending on what it was we could work through that.

Within this statement, Brightly gets a bit more specific with the types of crime that she would consider unacceptable. While they could also be considered exaggerations, she makes the

specific argument that even though she is understanding, some things would directly impact her life and ability to provide for herself and therefore would be a dealbreaker.

Trell, a 23 year old woman with an Associates degree attributed her decision making regarding one's criminal past to whether or not there were certain stipulations on his freedom that would also inhibit her freedom. For example, she pointed to their being certain convictions that might make it that the man is not able to freely move if she wanted to travel with him or buy a home out of state. This demonstrates another case of it having less to do with the crime, but more to do with how it would impact their lives. For Brightly, there does appear to be some level of respectability playing a role in her processing because of the public nature of her job and how that could impact her work. However, with Trell, it is more of an issue of personal convenience. Nevertheless, both women use the type of lifestyle they intend to upkeep as a measure of the type of crime that they are willing to tolerate in a significant other. With Black women often being the sole earners, or the breadwinners, within their households, their love lives not interfering with their earning potential and lifestyle is arguably a worthwhile consideration as it is directly related to meeting their basic needs (Black Women's Roundtable 2019).

Several other women made quick remarks in regards to weeding out their preferred criminal records from those less savory. Theryis, a 26 year old woman with a Master's degree asserts, "You're talking about a drug charge, I don't really think that count. Unless you talkin' bout like, some like... you moving heroin, that's something like- I don't think that that's something that I can deal with." Amber, another 26 year old woman with a masters degree made a similar assertion, specifically detailing weed charges as being insignificant and something that she could "deal with". Drug charges came up repeatedly across all the focus groups with an overall acceptance of them with varying caveats on the type of drug, like Theryis' caveat for

heroine or Amber's specificity of mentioning weed. Two other participants specifically mentioned weed charges. Even as marijuana has been decriminalized in most states, there are countless Black men who have records solely because of it, or other non-violent drug related crimes- crimes that had they been white, they very likely may have never found themselves with a record in the first place (Alexander 2010). Many of the women recognize this, with the hyper awareness previously referenced, and as a result, the women leave allowances within their dating requirements to accommodate that.

Conclusion

In many ways, previously argued positions maintaining that Black women valued their respectability over partnering was not supported within these conversations, especially when it came to criminal background. Edin and Kefalas (2005) spoke of low-income women foregoing marriage because of how highly the women held the sanctity of marriage. This was represented through their idealization of the institution of marriage, but also their awareness of their living situation and how the introduction and presence of a serious partner could jeopardize that. While this is saying nothing in particular to how these women view marriage, it's important to note that at no real point did the women care to stop and think how their concessions of criminal backgrounds would weigh on them by outside perspectives. Brightly did speak of the public nature of her employment but that is only because of the risk it would have on her life as a whole. On a topic so deeply intertwined with social status and inherently respectability, in a community where respectability politics has often had a stronghold, it was completely absent from the conversation.

Revisiting the perspective of destigmatization of lower class as it relates to dating down (Leong 2012), that is something that was present in the ways that the women approached

criminality. However, it was far more than just leveling the marriage market in terms of class.

The women exhibited an extreme level of awareness as it related to structural barriers in the form of mass incarceration and the impact that had on their particular markets. To deduce this to simply a destigmatization of class disregards the depth of the processes employed by my respondents as they broaden their marriage prospects through the inclusion of men with criminal backgrounds.

All in all, the theory of racial realism seems best fit in attempting to understand the direction taken by the women in my study as they take a more inclusive approach to dating. Especially in processing the potential that their literal 'soulmate' could be incarcerated due to the systems in place that disproportionately target Black men resulting in their varied levels of involvement with the criminal justice system, my respondents choose to take a non-conventional but rather pragmatic approach to the issue at hand and begin to negotiate the degree at which they are able to realistically accept those who have fallen to the grips of mass incarceration.

CHAPTER 5. "A CERTAIN KIND OF PARTNERSHIP"

When I think of marriage, the first true thing that comes to mind is the example of my parents. My parents have been married just over a year longer than I've been alive and have been the most beautiful example of marriage that I have ever seen. They got married older—when my mother was 35 and my father was 41. My mother always talked about when she was considering what she wanted in a husband, she wrote out a list of 22 things, expecting for a man to hopefully fulfill about half of them. My father met a whopping 18 of her qualifications and spending her life with him was a no brainer for her. I can honestly say, in my experience, I have never known two other people who love each other as much as my parents do. Their example of marriage shaped a lot of what I understood of marriage, beginning with it being a union centered around God and love. While there were plenty of ups and downs in their marriage, so much of my parent's story sounds like something out of a rom-com fairytale. Further, to me, my mother has always represented the pinnacle of respectability politics, and she has always been adamant in her desire to make sure that she always does things "right" and "by the book," even if it takes her a little longer. While I have always respected and admired her for her persistence in doing so, and have loved every bit of the life she facilitated for me, I never felt as strong of a desire to adhere to the same set of standards that she held herself to.

In discussing families, scholar Patricia Hill Collins' analysis can help explain the gap between my mother's experiences and sensibilities and my own. My mother's (and parent's) story is uncommon (Collins 2000). Broadly speaking, the way that marriage is defined in society (which aligns with her experience) is a model unfit for Black women and Black households (Collins 2000). Stories like my parents', however, are held up in mainstream rhetoric as the ideal. As Collins puts it when speaking of family being seen as a married couple with biological

children, "Idealizing the traditional family as a private haven from a public world, family is seen as being held together through primary emotional bonds of love and caring" (Collins 2000, pg. 47). In less formal accounts, too, we can see this idealization. For example, one widely ready marriage blog defines marriage as a liaison that "has come a long way with time to be recognized as a union of people in love who promise to spend a lifetime together" (Smith 2022). Popular wedding magazine, *Brides*, offers their take on marriage as well, seeing it as a union with a legal, emotional, and economic bond that legitimizes sex and has "a key role in the preservation of morals and civilization" (Stritof 2021). Collins powerfully notes, however, that "the definitions advanced by elite groups in the United States uniformly work to the detriment of African-American women" (pg. 47). This pattern is arguably prevalent in ideologies that frame marriage as a key in upholding societal morals when we know that Black women are the least likely across all groups to marry.

Collins and various Black feminist theorists also often emphasize the importance of Black women being able to define things for themselves rather than restricting themselves to the societal definitions or limitations of what they are told their experiences should be (Collins 2000; Lorde 1980; Walker 1983). In knowing that many definitions of marriage were never made to include Black women, or purposefully excluded Black women, constructing their own shared understanding only makes sense. Collins states that "[i]n this process Black women journey toward an understanding of how our personal lives have been fundamentally shaped by intersecting oppressions of race, gender, sexuality, and class" (Collins 2000, pg. 114). Society has built a construction of marriage that does not encompass the Black experience, yet people continue to judge Black people, and Black women especially, for their disengagement in the practice (Banks 2010; Collins 2000; Moynihan 1965). Therefore, it only makes sense that Black

women, and particularly single Black women as they bare the brunt of these criticisms, are allowed the opportunity to shape their own understanding of the concept or marriage and their alignment, or lack thereof, with it.

A Certain Kind Of Partnership

Data in this chapter focus on how participants understand and define the concept of marriage. All responses were collected from the segment of the focus group where I stated that we would be talking about marriage and asked the following three questions: 1) To what extent do you want to get married? 2) What does marriage mean to you? and 3) Have you ever felt pressure to get married? The majority of responses were collected from their answers to the first two questions. In revealing the sources of their pressures to marry, however, some respondents went into more depth about the source of their understandings of marriage and relationships.

I did not provide any prior context to the word or concept of marriage. Instead, I allowed participants to shape their meanings in whatever way best suited them. I did sometimes find that whoever answered first did somewhat shape how the following respondents approached the question. For example, if the first person to answer gave a listing of characteristics, many times the remaining respondents would follow suit, listing characteristics of their own. However, if the first respondent told some sort of anecdote that shaped their understanding of the meaning of marriage, I found that diversified the structure of the remaining respondents' answers. As a result, rather than simply listing out the qualities of marriage, they, too, might immediately associate marriage to examples in their lives or they would begin explaining their ideal marriage. Respondents would also often try to expand upon their initial answers after gaining more context from their fellow respondents, sort of building and creating a shared collective view of marriage within each group.

Within focus group discussions, I recurringly found my respondents centering their explanations regarding how they understood marriage as either something that is to be regarded more practically or more emotionally, on balance. The primary overarching codes for data in this section are commitment, constructing ideal marriage, equally yolked/ equal partner, meaning of marriage, and negotiating ideas of marriage. "Meaning of marriage" broke downs into 12 subgroupings which consisted of the dual trends of practicality or emotionality: communication, complimentary, financial support, friendship, God and vows, harmony, individuality, love, partnership, spending time, struggle, and unique personal meaning. Of the subgroups, partnership far outnumbered all of the other codes, being coded more than three times more frequently than the next most popular codes (a tie between love, God and vows, and friendship). After even further evaluating the data from these code groups, my findings center around themes of women taking a pragmatic, non-fantastical approach to marriage with an emphasis on foundation building juxtaposed against those who centered their understanding around the idea of love and being chosen. I also cross analyze the examples they provide of marriage, their definition of marriage, and their desire to be married to see if there is any sort of correlations or trends between the three.

"I'm looking just for marriage in a practical kind of way"

More than anything, I found that my respondents took a very practical and pragmatic approach to marriage. They would often begin their definitions of marriage by heavily criticizing what they believed to be the social definitions of marriage. For example, Belle, the 22 year old widow, states, "I'm not looking for love in marriage. And I know that that's like a very uncommon position but like, I am... amongst a lot of women I find like they're like, 'I'm trying to find my soulmate'." Belle approaches her statement on marriage with the assumption that most

women are pursuing marriage for the purposes of emotional fulfillment, or "find(ing) (a) soulmate." While this is not widely supported in scholarship, these perspectives have been shared through less formal and more culturally accessible forms of media such as blogs, magazines, movies, and television (Makenzie and Dales 2017, Smith 2022, Stritof 2021, Wilding 2003).

Belle, potentially having had more exposure to the latter, attacks that notion that this should be what marriage is about, and exclaims that this is explicitly not what she is looking for. Belle continues:

I'm interested in having a certain kind of partnership. Like I'm very career driven. And so I would like to find someone who can help me do that. And not in a way that's parasitic like I want to be like very, like mutually beneficial and how we do the thing. What I like stability, and I would look for a partner who is able to be fulfill that role, but also be my friend. Like I'd love for my partner- my partner definitely has to be a person that like, I have a great time with and we can- we enjoy each other's company, but I'm looking just for marriage in a practical kind of way.

Following attaching popular culture's narratives regarding love and marriage, she then introduces a framework of marriage with which she is more comfortable. This interpretation does not include love but rather takes a more financially stable and career based approach to the union. Belle does make sure to note that she does not intend to be parasitic, arguably in an effort to not have her explanation perceived as 'golddigging', a derogatorily stigmatized and racialized trope of Black women who seek out men for their own financial advancement (Harris-Perry 2011, Stephens and Phillips 2003). Instead, she does attempt to highlight the positives of this structure by saying that this is someone whose company that she would still enjoy.

Shortly after Belle's assertion, Winnie, a 25 year old woman finishing up her bachelor's degree, gives a very similar sentiment with saying, "I'm saying I'm not looking for anything traditional either like, you know, everybody be like, Oh, yeah, we're married under God and da

da da da da and like all that but come on. Are you serious? Like that's it?" Winnie rejects pursuing what she terms the "traditional" relationship, and immediately discounts religion as a viable basis of marriage as well. This directly goes against ideas widely held in the Black community as far as the Black church being a major pillar of family and stable unions (Johnson and Loscocco 2015, Moultrie 2018, Painia 2018). In continuing to detail her understanding of marriage, Winnie also asks the following set of hypothetical questions: "[A]re you are you career driven? Do you have goals? Are you trying? Is there something in life that you are trying to go after or trying to get? Can we help each other grow if we haven't fucking grown up yet?... Can we be friends?" In line with Belle's comments, Winnies questions show that she prefers a union that prioritizes career advancement and is mutually beneficial. Similarly, she also buffers her practical desires with the concept of their being 'friendship' as well.

Both Winnie and Belle regard marriage as a practical means to an end. They both reference their careers and how in marriage, they are seeking someone who would help them achieve further success in that regard. However, in the same breath, they make sure to add some sort of humility by suggesting that everything within these unions is not entirely business, as there is a negative trope that exists within the Black communities that demonizes women that only pursue men for the sole purpose of financial advancement and stability (Harris-Perry 2011, Stephens and Phillips 2003). In addition to Belle specifically rejecting the idea of love as a means for marriage, they both also denounce the spiritual or religious aspects that others may associate with marriage, looking at those things as insignificant to what they understand to be the true purpose to engaging in that particular type of union.

Trell, in the same conversation, adds her grandmother's perspective with, "[M]y grandma is like, the number one person to be like, marriage is not about love, like fuck that shit. You need

to make sure that this person can take care of your house." Trell goes on to express full agreement with her grandmother, referencing how she thinks people have gotten away from the true meaning of marriage. In alignment with Belle, Trell disregards the social and popular culture's interpretation of love being supreme or a significant factor in determining marriage (Makenzie and Dales 2017), but instead offers things that should really matter, like the household's financial stability. When asked if she wants to get married again, Belle and Trell's response was that it's not a priority for them while Winnie did express that it is something that she desired but only after she continued to work on herself – another theme that continuously arose within the focus groups. Both Winnie and Belle also often referenced their mothers throughout the conversations, both of whom were unmarried and not pressuring either of their respective daughters into marriage, but rather to continue in pursing their desires and improving themselves.

Several women also furthered the notion regarding the practicality of marriage, specifically defining it as a system which requires building a foundation. When asked about marriage, Irene, the 38 year old woman with her Master's degree, begins with critiquing unions that she's seen in saying:

[T]hey're not building a foundation. They're not starting where they should. So that causes a lot of the divorces. Because when they get to be together after so many years they realize that they don't connect. The women has been doin-maybe carrying the relationship, and now she's tired of doing that. And the man, it can be the opposite way as well, he's been carrying the relationship and now he's tired of doing it. So now they disconnect, they split up, so now moving forward, he doesn't know, or she doesn't know how to build a foundation. Some people get it, but some don't. How to build a foundation if you get with another person, you know, to where did you mess up at before and where are you gonna go? What are you gonna do different the next time around? So now we all just out here trying to figure it out. I'ma do me, I'ma do, you know, you do you, but we still not the oneness coming together.

Further into her definition, Irene goes on to say, "You can only go up if you're working together. So I think definitely having someone that you can create- that you build a friendship with. So y'all can go through those different seasons together. And y'all can know how y'all give relief to one another." Building is primary characteristic of marriage from Irene's standpoint. She references this in conjunction to oneness, similar to the religious idea of 'two becoming one' in marriage. However, even in using religious jargon in explaining marriage, this perspective challenges some of the previous scholarship highlighting the strength in having a foundation in marriage from a biblical standpoint, as it usually suggests that in order for this foundation to be viable, the woman's role in a relationship is to take a backseat (Collins and Perry 2015, Johnson and Loscocco 2015). Instead Irene argues for more equal and active engagement between both the man and the woman to create this foundation. As she sees it, if you are not building, by her more equitable standard, you will divorce, but if you are, she describes the process as something that can be beautiful in a union.

In additional conversation, the notion of building came up again but from a different perspective. Courtney, a 29 year old single woman with her Master's degree states:

[T]here's definitely like this kind of like, 'build a n***a' type of like, thing that happens when you meet a guy and he's not doing that well, but you are doing well so you just kind of stay and help him get to the type of situation that he wants to be in. So you're building this n***a up. And I have a friend who is married and has been married for a long time. And she met a guy who was unemployed, and now he's in the army. And you know, she built that n***a up. It was- she did what she had to do. But I feel like there's always this space between- Black women have to pick between finding a n***a that they're gonna build up, or having a guy who does have it all together. And allowing him to like, treat her like shit.

Courtney, unlike Irene, doesn't take as positive a disposition or high regard towards building in marriage, but rather sees it as some sort of necessity that Black women have to take on to avoid being treated poorly. To Courtney, as she continues, Black women can either build

and get a husband, or not and be cheated on, which she explicitly stated in the focus group. This narrative of building coincides with literature suggesting that Black women diminish themselves for the sake of keeping and maintaining a relationship (Collins 2000, Johnson and Loscocco 2015). Courtney derogatorily sees building as a necessity 'or else' women will have to tolerate even worse marital circumstances. Courtney also speaks on her parents relationship, describing them as "dysfunctional" but "teammates" and essentially partners who have built together, furthering her understanding of the necessity of building for Black women. When asked if they wanted to get married, Amber adamantly expressed wanting to do so while Courtney said that she did but it was something that she struggled with after witnessing her parents dysfunction.

Taking things a bit further in terms of pragmatism, several women also defined marriage in terms of it explicitly being a "fight" or a struggle. Shanade, a 26 year old single woman with a Bachelors degree explained, "marriage is like putting on combat boots and fighting. It's not all glitz and glam and once the wedding gifts are gone, it's literally just you and that person." Even as Shanade repeatedly describes herself as an incredibly religious person and the youth leader in her church, when it came to her definition and understanding of marriage, the first thing that she referenced was that it would be some sort of battle. She then follows this up by asking that God help to prepare her to be a wife, seemingly asking that she be prepared by Him to enter this battlefield.

Even with this less than glamorous interpretation of marriage, Shanade is very clear in her strong desire to be married and references how with her mom being unmarried, that she specifically wants to pursue everything that her mother never had. Several other respondents had similar narratives of marriage, while not using as extreme of language, but still referencing it as "hard work" or something that forced you to confront the most difficult pieces of yourself.

Amber, a 26 year old woman with her Master's degree also defined marriage in terms of struggle. She states, "[F]or me, definitely like, I'm in the ring fighting forever, and people are like, 'you know what this is too hard. I can't do this.' So I need somebody who is like, "ok, you know what, plan A-Z aren't working, let's try AA. Let's try B-B." You know what I mean? Like, we're gonna keep trying 'til we can't try anymore. That's really important for me." Similar to Shanade, Amber views marriage as some sort of extended difficulty between herself and her spouse. They describe it as something that has to be endured, rather than enjoyed, with the only success being staying in it. Within prior scholarship speaking to elders on what contributed to the longevity of their marriages, while they did specifically reference the significance of love, they spoke in depth of the necessity of hard work and the continued commitment to each other in order to get through difficult times (Stanford and Stearns 2019), similar to the interpretations of marriage outlined by Amber and Shanade. However, unlike Shanade, when explicitly asked if she wanted to get married, Amber explained that while she desired a "life partner", she wasn't exactly interested in marriage.

In essentially every case of women who decided to take a more logical and pragmatic approach to marriage, they either explicitly denounced the necessity of love, or never even brought it up. They may have made other positive remarks, such as Irene remarking on building a foundation having the potential to be beautiful, but in most of these situations, respondents were significantly more focused on practicality in marriage rather than anything that might be interpreted as fantastical in any way. This practical interpretation is supported both within scholastic and legal interpretations of marriage (Bell 1997), but not necessarily as it relates to the media narratives and social interpretations that respondents are more likely to be exposed to on a

regular basis (Wilding 2003). Some women even took it as far to regard marriage as an outright fight and ordeal, rather than a more positive circumstance.

In most cases, respondents were heavily influenced by their families, expressing that their perspective was a direct result of what they witnessed, regardless of if it led them to follow in their parent's marital footsteps or not. Respondents constant reference of building, specifically as it related back to fiscal or career motivations, ties back into Collins (2000) work regarding definitions of marriage and the public and private sphere narrative of traditional marital households not aligning with the reality of your average Black family. Breadwinner/homemaker family model frameworks have never been a regularity for Black households as Black women have always worked and been actively engaged in the public sphere of society (Collins 2001). This is clear as the majority of the women continued to relate their definitions of marriage back to some sort of base layer of financial practicality due to that being an unspoken, but shared understanding of all their experiences.

"Somebody chose me! So the least I can do is choose them back"

While the majority of the women did emphasize a logistical definition of marriage, there still remained an undercurrent of women that held on to a more romanticized view of the marital union. In these more idealized definitions, love was something that the women viewed as a significant part of the understanding of marriage, which they still somehow either distanced themselves from the possibility of attaining in somewhat of an attempt to remain grounded in their interpretations. For example, Tya, a 26 year old woman with her bachelors degree states:

I can describe it in a few words like unity, building your legacy, just finding someone that you can relate to. I feel like marriage is like finding your male best friend, if that's your preference. You have a female best friend and you have your male best friend. But basically, that's it. I don't know, just something that you vow to God, vow to commit to this person and love the person or whatever. That's it.

Tya includes both the elements of practicality and romance, but then adds "or whatever" seemingly knocking down the latter portion of her definition including the bit on God and love. However, she still took the time to mention both God and love, when most of the women did not, leading one to believe that it does hold some level of significance for her.

In another example, Tilly, a 22 year old woman with her Bachelor's degree, iterates:

If I do, I do, if I don't, I don't, because I feel like it would have to take, for me to really be in love with that person and vice versa, rather than, like you said, them telling you to marry for like he'll take care of you, he has money, that will be a solid person. Even in the media, watching television shows, they always got the black woman that say, oh well, I married him because he was going to take care of us or because he had money. Then they end up saying they regret doing so because they didn't really love the guy and stuff.

In this scenario, Tilly does see love as a necessity within her understanding of marriage, and as something that can make or break the union. She also sees financial stability and the 'provider' archetype as unimportant as compared to love. However, she sees her own chances at attaining this type of situation as grim and does not rank it as a priority in her life. Tya on the other hand was excited for the possibility of getting married. Neither women explicitly spoke of the marital statuses of their parents. Delia, a 25 year old woman with a Bachelor's degree adds to this theme in stating, "I do want to get married. And no, I don't want it to be a business deal, I want to get married for love, for real. And I hope that one day, God lets it happen, but if He doesn't I'll be okay with that too." Again, both God and love present themselves along with the doubt in finding a prospect for marriage. Delia, like Tilly does not consider marriage to be a priority for her and says that she will be fine whether it happens or not.

Several respondents also spoke to this notion of marriage meaning that they had been "chosen" and as marriage being some sort of absolute prize. In some of these cases, the women were battling with renegotiating what it meant to be chosen from a standpoint that would be more empowering to them. For example, Crystionna, a 25 year old woman with her JD states:

Umm, I used to associate marriage with being chosen. Umm, 'cause being chosen was a lot of what my dating life looked like. Umm, before I- like I'm in a relationship now and this is the first relationship where I feel like I allowed myself to have a say in the partner that I chose too. Umm, my past relationships were like, "somebody chose me! So the least I can do is choose them back!" Or, "they're interested in me, I can't believe they're interested. So they least I can do is show effort too." Umm, and I can say the difference in the two is like I'm able to speak up for myself more. I'm able to communicate better. So like, marriage for me- it reflects all of that. And being as much of the chooser as I am chosen.

In this full circle depiction, Cristionna talks about how she used to associate marriage with the joy of simply being chosen, which resonates with prior literature also recognizing this trend in women desiring that a man 'chooses' them (Lamont 2013). However, as she reclaims her power throughout her processing of her definition, she arrives at the same point, that being chosen is still a necessity but that her having also actively participated in the process of choosing her partner as well. As long as both have engaged, all is well for her. Similarly, Klarissa, another 25 year old woman but with her Bachelor's degree comments, "I want to share my life with someone who chooses me constantly. And I choose them constantly as well. And that, that is something worth saying yes to." This essentially mirrors the final perspective of Cristionna of marriage representing a mutual choosing.

When being asked about her pressures to marry, Gwen, a 40 year old woman with her high school diploma stated:

My pressure for marriage comes from society... [it's] about umm feeling chosen. So like, I'm a big music fan, so like all the songs He Loves Me, and Put a Ring on It and all the stuff like that. Like that's where the pressure for me to get married comes from. But umm, like my family there aren't many marriages in our family. So, I never got personal pressure, but I feel societal pressure at times. 'Cause that's how you win as a Black woman. That's what makes you unique and valuable.

Although Gwen is speaking in terms of pressures, she is building upon this notion of being chosen, and even making the bigger claim that this being chosen is how you 'win' and what contributes to your societal value (Lamont 2013). When asked whether or not they want to get

married, Cristionna and Klarissa both state that they do, with Cristionna adding that her having never seen a successful marriage is one of her motivations to have one for herself. Gwen on the other hand is no longer interested in marriage at all and mainly attributes that to her age.

Conclusion

While some women did consider marriage to be more romantic, referencing ideas of love, religion, and the feeling of being chosen, they still did their best to maintain some sense of grounding in their notions of these concepts. Regardless of their definitions of marriage seemingly being in more alignment with idealized western and popular concepts of marriage, they were still their own personal definitions and informed by their experiences and motivated by the examples within their lives. Some of the women also did maintain a portion of practicality, like Tya's iteration of marriage being something that includes "building a foundation". While the prioritization of marriage fluctuated in both the women who took a logistical approach as compared to a romantical one, one woman, Gwen, did actually say that she had no desire to be married, after stating that being chosen for marriage was a staple measure for Black women's societal value. While she was the oldest of my respondents and contributed this answer to her age, Irene, only 2 years younger than her, expressed being very interested in marriage and stated that it didn't have a set timeline.

All in all, women from both subsets were able to take the concept of marriage within a safe space and dissect it both individually and collectively (Collins 2001). Many of the ideas brough up by the women who took a practical approach strongly challenged religious interpretations of marriage and also came incredibly close to the gold digger trope cast towards Black women, that they simultaneously were actively attempting to negate by citing the presence of friendship or stating that these relationships would be mutually beneficial. Although there was

no set agreement between the women who either referenced pragmatism or romanticism being the predominant narrative, being able to be in charge of their own defining processes in an uninterrupted fashion was valuable and necessary within itself (Collins 2000; Lorde 1980; Walker 1983).

CHAPTER 6. "I WANNA GET MARRIED... I JUST WANNA FINISH THIS DEGREE FIRST."

No one before has ever examined the multilayered texture of Black women's lives. An example of this kind of revelation/conceptualization occurred at a meeting as we discussed the ways in which our early intellectual interests had been attacked by our peers, particularly Black males. We discovered that all of us, because we were "smart," had also been considered "ugly," i.e., "smart-ugly." "Smart-ugly" crystallized the way in which most of us had been forced to develop our intellects at great cost to our "social" lives.

-- Combahee River Collective Statement

Every time I turn around, I'm celebrating one of my friends for something. They won an award, earned a degree, got approved for a grant, started a business, bought some property, started a non-profit, got accepted into a new program, and more. Sometimes, I think to myself, "Where do we find the time?" I also think of times when I was talking to my mother about her friends, she'll often give some random tid-bit about them, and it is usually always something about having some additional degree or accomplishment that I never knew about. They own multiple homes and properties, have several degrees, multiple passive streams of income-you name it. I used to wonder how on earth did they do these things, and then I would redirect my attention directly back to myself and my friends and see us following in their same footsteps.

Black women have long been focused on self-improvement, especially in the context of educational attainment (Collins 2000). *Knowledge is power* and especially coming from a history where we were once not allowed to read or write, prioritizing formal education to the utmost has become a norm for us (Collins 2000, Taylor 2017). This has been demonstrated so much so that even when compared to our own male peers, we far outnumber in attendance and out earn them at all degree levels (NCES 2020). While the wage gap may still not be on our side, Black women on average are earning degrees at a ratio of 2:1 of Black men, which is the largest gender gap in degree attainment across all races (Black Women's Round Table 2019). Collins (2000, pg 210)

states, "Education has long served as a powerful symbol for the important connections among self, change, and empowerment in African-American communities." Black women have been on the forefront of change within their communities and attaining their education has been one of the many ways that they have been able to maintain that stronghold.

However, this pursuit of education has come at a cost. Several scholars and theorists often discuss how Black women struggle in terms of being both socially and romantically as a result of their academic pursuits (Collins 2000, Taylor 2017). In the Combahee River Collective Statement, they brought the concept of "smart-ugly" to light (Taylor 2017). This term was meant to draw attention to how Black men in particular condemned Black women who prioritized their education (Taylor 2017). Even outside the Black community, there are many tropes that Black women have had to somehow fight, address, or challenge in their everyday lives. Similar to "smart-ugly," there exists another trope that is equally problematic, yet seems to fly underneath the radar due to being perceived as "benign": the archetype of the "Black Lady" (Collins 2000, Taylor 2017). In detailing the Black Lady, Collins (2000, pgs 80-81) states:

These are the women who stayed in school, worked hard, and have achieved much... Because they so routinely compete with men and are successful at it, they become less feminine. Highly educated Black ladies are deemed to be too assertive—that's why they cannot get men to marry them.

The trope of the Black Lady has managed to combine the mammy, a desexualized hardworking servant, and the matriarch, an emasculating and domineering mother, into a respectable, success obsessed professional woman while simultaneously diverting attention from Black women's achievements and activism for their communities (Collins 2000). Seemingly every facet of Black womanhood, regardless of how positive or negative it may be, has been reduced to a trope regardless of the actual influence that these archetypes hold within the Black community.

Even still, Black women haven't seemed to stray from the course of academic achievement and overall self-improvement. More recently, with the hyper exposure we now have to social media constantly reinforcing aesthetic culture and beauty norms, the majority of which appropriate Black features but do not include Black women (Hobson 2018), we are beginning to see counter narratives emerge promoting radical self-love, and other activist tenants heavily promoted throughout Black feminist theory (Hester and Squires 2018, hooks 2001). Black women overall are seeing the value in putting themselves first in the face of adversity (Mason 2022), even if it may be at the cost of their romantic pursuits (Collins 2000, Taylor 2017).

"I wanna get married... I just wanna finish this degree first."

In this chapter, I explore how women in my study talked about prioritizing their romantic relationships in relation to their self and the goals they've set for themselves. Responses were collected from throughout the focus groups and did not surface in response to any one particular question. Many of the responses came from the portions of the interview regarding whether or not the women felt pressured to marry, the question regarding dating down, and a few from the question asking whether or not they desired to get married at all. Due to the sporadic and yet frequent nature of how this theme presented itself, it represents how prevalent this notion of self-improvement was for the women across my study.

In discussion, my respondents began by answering whatever the question was at hand, but in elaborating, their conversation often merged into something regarding how they were putting themselves first. In my analysis, I initially coded these instances for self-improvement, negotiating their own success, and accepting superiority. In looking more specifically at the way that my respondents spoke of how they were prioritizing themselves, I found that their discussion centered around either healing, focusing on school, focusing on career, focusing on self, or

specifically pursuing school over marriage. Respondents also provided explanations and justifications for these decisions that included familial encouragement, their response to a prior relationship experience, and more.

In further analysis, all statements that were initially collected as a part of this overall theme of self-improvement were then transferred to a spreadsheet and thematically color coded. Thematic codes were self-love, negotiating success and growth in comparison to men, pursuit of education, finances and stability, self-motivation, "relationships are difficult/not my priority, so I'd rather do X", and mental health. Much of the statements made by my respondents were not mutually exclusive as they often intertwined themes of self-love and negotiating their success in comparison to men with a combination of other varying themes. This demonstrated the layered nature of self-improvement as my respondents connected their internalized singleness with the betterment of themselves. That considered, negotiating success and growth in comparison to men was the most frequently coded theme, as they repeatedly spoke of their pursuits in conjunction with the lack that they experienced in their relationship experiences.

"I don't have a priority to be married"

When considering Maslow's hierarchy of needs, it's difficult to address needs stated higher in the chart when your basic and fundamental needs aren't met (McLeod 2007). This theme surfaced for many respondents, who were more focused on addressing their primary needs in terms of securing consistent employment rather than concerning themselves with love. For example, when responding to how she felt about the statistics of Black women not getting married, Tya, a 26 year old woman, stated:

Okay, so being a 26-year-old, young, African-American female, I don't have any children and I'm not currently in a relationship. I'm single. I feel like it's true, because first of all, I'm more focused on my career, establishing... I'm in school for my master's degree. Just for me, I'm more focused on establishing my financial stability before I can focus on

having a relationship and having a family, building a family and all that. So I feel like it's true. I don't think it's a negative statistic. I think it's true for me, at least.

Tya demonstrated how her love life simply wasn't something she could consider until she felt more overall comfortable in life, and her basic needs were met (McLeod 2007). She also pointed to the extra step of personally destignatizing the idea of singlehood and reframing the conversation by explicitly stating that saying Black women not getting married was not "a negative statistic". In alignment with the work of Collins (2000), Tya both engaged in self defining this circumstance for herself as in addition to recentering the conversation to what she recognized as actually important, which was that establishing herself came before building a family.

Later in the same conversation, Tilly, a 22 year old woman, reiterated similar sentiments when speaking to the statistics of Black women's marriage rates. Tilly comments:

I'm 22 and I kind of feel the same way. I feel like a relationship would be nice right now, but I guess because of how everything has been going on when it comes down to relationships it's like, okay, let's get ourselves together as women first and then we could really worry about a relationship, because the stigma about a woman depending on a man. So I would rather do it myself first, get established and then have a relationship. I feel like if I have one, then it would just be based on is that person willing to match my drive when it comes down to career aspirations?

Tilly acknowledges the dominant culture's narrative of the breadwinner/homemaker household model and immediately shoots down the practicality of it for herself, while offering the alternative of what she sees to be more practical: financially establishing herself before seeking a mate. Consistent with Tilly's perspective, literature also shows there being an overall a decline in support for this particular marriage model (Cunningham 2008). Alternatively, in characterizing women's financial dependence as a stigma, it is also arguable that she is attempting to distance herself from the gold digger trope of Black womanhood while doing the necessary work to establish herself so that she doesn't fall into that archetype (Harris-Perry 2011, Stephens and

Phillips 2003). While both Tya and Tilly do aspire to one day see themselves partnered, and specifically with a Black man, they intend on doing so on their terms, which is once they are in a stable financial position. One might also draw the connection that this is a reality that Black women may more so have to consider since they are more likely to be the breadwinners within their households (Black Women's Roundtable 2019, Collins 2000), but this is neither something that neither woman mentioned, although Tilly did allude to her inability to rely on a man to provide for her.

For many of the women, there also seemed to be a lot of emotion wrapped up in their deprioritizing relationship pursuit. Some women expressed it as experiencing a change in their perspective(s) over time or having failed relationship experiences that resulted in them deciding to focus on their own growth instead. For example, Theryis, a 26 year old woman with her Master's degree, stated:

I wanna get married. It's definitely there. I want to finish this degree first. Umm, and I think it's just not as big of a priority. Umm, once I reached that age or threshold or once I crossed that line or whatever in my original timeline and realized it wasn't coming, I was like, 'ok. So we're just gonna go ahead and set that to the side real quick on the back burner'... it does make me sad though, you know... Because I really did expect that to be something as easy as getting a degree. Everything else seemed so easy, you know. Umm, especially when you're used to just like things coming so easily but relationships generally aren't like that for me. So umm, it's still there. I wanna get married, it's just not on the forefront of my mind.

In a previous group, Tya states, "I feel like the dudes I meet, they really be on some BS. Me being the type of person I am, I don't like BS, so I'm not going to take you seriously. So if I'm not taking you seriously, it means no serious relationship. I focus on my education... My time will come."

Both Tya and Theryis haven't had the best relationship experiences and see pursuing their education as a more fruitful alternative, but that doesn't come without an emotional

response. Theryis, a woman who has already successfully attained two degrees, and is now in the middle of a doctoral program mentions her failed timeline and how she is disappointed in her relationship pursuits not being as successful as her educational pursuits. She copes by continuing to do something that she knows that she has had had success at while avoiding potential future failure. Tya seemingly is doing the same by commenting that rather than tolerate BS, she'll just focus on her education, as she currently pursues her Master's degree.

In another example, Christionna, a 25 year old woman with her JD stated the following:

I also think a part of it is, umm, in my mind dating someone who is like me or in my profession - and this goes to date with me going to law school with Black men, umm, or the Black men that I saw in my profession and that I have met so far, or who make more money than me - it normally comes at a higher price from the woman. I would have to surrender so much of myself in order to be desirable to that man. Umm, I would have to, uhh, I'm very assertive and I'm very domineering... Men of that stature typically don't like that because I challenge everything. Umm, so I would if that was- if that fit into my nature, but based on experience like, that's just not- it hasn't- I haven't been desirable to them.

Christionna, having recently completed her professional degree, details her dating experiences with men at her educational level as her having to diminish herself in order to be desirable to them. This directly coincides with the work of Johnson and Loscocco (2015) where they spoke of Black women having been counseled to uplift Black men, even if that resulted in putting themselves down. This notion is also reinforced in advice books specifically marketed to Black women in an effort to helping them find a man (Harvey 2009). Christionna's comments having strongly resonated with me in the focus group, I even echoed support from having had similar experiences with highly educated men. In a brief discourse, we both expressed our frustrations due to this kind of man being who we wanted "on paper", and them seeming to also want us "on paper", but it never truly working out without us having to substantially subdue our characters for the sake of their egos. This falls in line with the professional women Collins (2000)

discusses, where they "report increasing difficulty in finding middle-class Black men interested in marrying them " (pg.66). Oftentimes, in these cases of being faced with these difficulties, whether or not it be by choice, many of these women end up alone (Collins 2000). Tya and Theryis hold on to hope at the end of their statements, but they also continually acknowledge throughout their respective groups that prospects are grim.

"Where are you in your journey towards being your best self?"

Even though there are women who do choose to fall into more submissive and biblical depictions of womanhood as it relates to their relationship pursuits, such as one of my participants Shanade, referenced in the prior chapter, asking that God prepare her to be a wife, more of my respondents wanted to make sure that their romantic prospects were taking their personal growth as seriously as they were. The majority of the women I spoke to in one way or another expressed their commitment to constant self-improvement and goal setting, and would find themselves comparing their accomplishments to their potential mates as a measure of compatibility. Some women made these comparisons explicitly on the basis of age.

For example, Belle, a 22 year old woman with a bachelors degree states:

Because I found a lot of success in my life very early, that I am very disinterested in people who are in my age range, especially if it's a man that I'm dating, you have to be, you've got to have at least a decade on me... But like, Where are you in your journey towards being your best self and the thing that you want to be the, like bomb in like, when I'm talking to them, like I just find that like, you don't know what the thing is that you want to do, let alone like, be able to know how to do it like, and so I've been like really frustrated with, like, dating or trying to date guys who are in my age. range because it appears that you are financially unstable or going towards, like pathways that are not aligned with where I see myself in my life.

Due to the success that Belle has achieved in life, she has found it easier to just raise the age range that she dates in an effort to find men that she regards as closer to where she is and what

she has accomplished. She has found that dating men closer to her in age doesn't yield the same results in terms of both ambition and accomplishment.

In another example, when discussing dating down, Trell, a 24 year old woman with her Associates degree, also mentions age in her response with the following:

I taught myself to be like, Alright bitch you did some shit you wasn't supposed to and now you in a fucked up spot. How do we do this? How do we get out of this? Like last year, I did a bunch of dumb shit like spending money on a bunch of shit where I was supposed to like, I knew better and still did it wrong. But now I'm like, Okay, enough of that. We cutting that out now - it's time to act like a fucking adult, like you about to be 25 - you need to be an adult. And I'm Like, you can't just dwell on it and I think a lot of men I don't know what it is, like a lot of black men and black men my age that I run into. Like they get told no once and then they're just like, Oh, well fuck it, let me just sit the fuck down like do you know where I would be if I was told no a million times?

While Trell never explicitly states preferring to date older men, she repeatedly talks about how the men her age have various character flaws that results in them being stagnant in one way or another. She acknowledges the work that she has put into herself both professionally and character wise and expresses disappointment that men her own age haven't done the same.

Trell also often addressed her financial expectations of men and the example that her dad set with her mother as far as being a provider, and the less than favorable outlook that she has with prospects of her own age while discussing the expectations that they have of her. Although not of the same age bracket, but still within the frame of relative age, this mirrors the work of Salisu (2021) in a study that interviewed older Black women regarding their dating habits. They too found that there was a financial expectation that was often not met by men of their own age which was discouraging to them as they specifically sought someone that either matched them in terms of wealth or was doing even better (Salisu 2021). Both Belle and Trell have established themselves in their careers and in an earlier chapter, held very practical expectations for a relationship, but when it comes to looking at the ways that they have accomplished their

financial and career goals, like many women, they struggle to find men who have done the same (Black Women's Roundtable 2019).

Beyond a specific struggle with age, many of my respondents found there to be an overall difficulty with finding likeminded men at all when it came to their ambition in life. Various women outright spoke to the experience being 'tough' or 'hard', and being frustrated when they were seriously attempting to find a partner. Delia, a 25 year old woman with her Bachelors degree states:

I know I grew up in the Hood, so... nine times out of 10, it's sad to say, they don't go off to college, they don't go get an education, they fall into this cycle of the streets... I went to college. I got to do it. And I don't want to say that I don't want to date a man without a college degree because I'm not that type of person, but I'm not going to take care of you... But at the same time I think that we need to consider that. That's why it's hard because it's, I don't know. I think that causes friction too, you're educated and the partner is not, it's, you're probably making more money than him.

While Delia does her best to hold space for men who she describes as "not on her level," she also recognizes the long-term difficulty of their potential union with it creating a dynamic where she could end up being the breadwinner, while still having other gender based expectations, as it is in many Black households (Black Women's Roundtable 2019, Collins 2000, Johnson and Loscoco 2015).

In another example, Tilly explains:

It's hard dating guys my age because I'm 22. I'll be like, okay, what are you doing? Are you in school? I'll get the same old "oh school is not for me school, school is not for everybody." And I'm like, okay well, what are you doing?...And it's like, guys my age, I feel like they are not mature. I'm not going to say they are all like that, but even the ones in school it's like what's next? What do you plan on doing? It's tough. It's tough.

While continuing to make the age argument, Tilly also expresses the sheer difficulty of dating when she has accomplished her bachelor's degree at 22 and is met with men with no education who express minimal direction in their lives. In another group, Ebony, a 30 year old woman with

her Bachelor's degree comments, "[S]o when you start writing down all these things, like the pros and cons, and you start making a list and checking it twice of all the specifications of the perfect partner, umm, the chances of you meeting these people, especially where I am [in life], I know it makes it even harder."

In attempting to actively seek and vet a partner that would hopefully result in a positive relationship, Delia, Tilly, and Ebony seem to consistently hit roadblocks when it comes to finding men that meet the baseline of just meeting them where they are. This is not a foreign concept as Black women are less likely to marry into wealth as compared to white women and are more likely to be partnered with someone who earns less than them (Black Womens Roundtable 2019; Collins 1997; Porter and Bronzaft 1995). While the odds remain stacked against them, and them feeling the strain of that reality, Delia, Tilly, and Ebony still maintain hope that they will be able to achieve a different outcome than their statistical predecessors as they all made mention to the notion that they don't intend to give up.

Some of the women also spoke to being on a self-improvement journey specifically towards self-love and mental wellness. Some of them credited it to heartbreak, but most saw this as just a necessary part of becoming their best selves. In this journey, they also were looking for their potential partners to also prioritize self-love and mental wellness as well, while unfortunately continuing to be met with lack luster suitors. Tiff, a 27 year old with a Master's degree states:

I'm very much so focused on like, just what an ideal partner is. And not necessarily just so I know what I want if it comes along like, just... I look at people like mirrors. So, whether an ideal partner comes at me now like, I just want to be like a healthy person period... But when I do think about it, I just think about it in terms of, "ok well, if I do get married, even if I don't actually marry this conducive partner and shit, how do I want to be as a partner? And what do I hope to get in return? Because I can't just expect to get what I give. So, let me just be the best and the most healthy that I can be, and I'll think about what hopefully I do receive in return.

In speaking about what she desired in a partnership, Tiff immediately began speaking on her journey with overall wellness and mental health. Tiff sees her journey in working on herself as her way to improve her prospects because of her "mirror" theory which she brings up various times throughout the discussion. Essentially, Tiff believes that whatever she brings into the relationship within herself, she will have to face in some sort of way, which is what she means by looking at relationships like a mirror. In order to mitigate that for herself, she wants to bring her best self but is also hoping that her partner would do the same, although she has some doubt in her level of expectation.

In another example, Winnie, a 25 year old woman finishing up her bachelors degree states, "I am on a self-love journey. And I do feel like that's important right now to be prepared for something like that...I'm working on my demons and I would hope by the time we then reached each other, I would hope that you didn't BS and did the same thing." Winnie spoke throughout the group of healing, therapy, and self-love. This coincides with various scholars that have been following recent trends of the resurgence of Black women practicing radical self-love (Hester and Squires 2018, Mason 2022). Within this statement, Winnie also expresses that she is looking for someone who has prioritized those same things. This was specifically in reference to what she was looking for in a marriage and a marriageable man- someone who is making strides to work on themselves, as she has been doing the same.

Grace, a 23 year old woman with her Bachelor's degree makes the following statement:

I feel like single women, like are always like spend this time like being a bridesmaids and not being a bride, or like spending time on like self-love and like, I feel like we really do take singleness and like take time to work on ourselves. I feel like when we are ready to be married, we know what we want. But then like dudes are just sitting around like, at this age, just like doing shit. Are they working on themselves? And the age for men to get married, is growing is like, is being higher and higher because like they're not doing that shit. So then like when they come to, like what were they doing? Well, you weren't

slaying your demons... And they aren't ready for that, and then by the time like they're ready, you've been married for five years. So I feel like that's a big disconnect because self-care and self-love and self-journey is becoming more and more and more of a thing in society. I don't think it's being appreciated for both sexes. genders, whatever.

Grace really breaks down the self-journey from a gendered perspective saying how society grooms women to become wives through this language of taking a 'self-love' journey, while never encouraging men to do the same. As a result, women come to the marriage prepared for marriage at a certain age, while men don't really to have it all together within the time frame, but instead until much later, which seems to be a pretty classic storyline. However, as these traditional socialization patterns persist, there are still new currents that are moving these women away from the necessitating of marriage (England 2010; Zaidni and Morgan 2017). Tiff, Winnie, and Grace all see the strength in internal self-work, and also urge that significance to their male counterparts and potential partners, but realize that the value that they hold in it is seldom shared by men. Also, considering Black men's distrust of the medical industrial complex as a whole (Wiltshire, Pearson, and Allison 2011, Washington 2020, and Torres 2018), as well as the influence of the Black church juxtaposed against mental health treatment within the Black community (Campbell and Long 2014), these women are fighting an uphill battle in hoping to find men that share their mentality.

Conclusion

While the Black Lady is meant as a derogatory trope for educated, career oriented Black women consistently on the journey to progress (Collins 2000), coinciding with the narrative of "Smart-ugly" as discussed by the women of the Combahee River Collective (Taylor 2017), the descriptions of both easily captured the archetype of my respondents, although they consistently redefined and reimagined the depth and nuance of what a Black lady truly is. Yes, many of them attest to struggling to find an ideal partner, and attributed much of that to their educational,

financial, and career success, many still found ways to reframe their perspectives and remain hopeful while still holding fast to the expectations that they had for their relationships and partners.

This did not come without having to also engage in their own feelings work as many outwardly expressed the difficulty and even feeling sad regarding the circumstances. Similar to various other literature capturing Black women's frustrations in regards to having difficulty finding a suitable partner (Collins 2000, Salisu 2021), my participants were candid as they spoke to their difficulties in trying to pursue romantic relationships. However, they repurposed that energy into things that they could more positively associate with such as educational attainment or career advancement. Even in their disappointment with their attempts at partnership, they still held on to their power and even reclaimed it as they also prioritized their own physical, mental, and emotional wellbeing.

This is yet another example of how Black women continue to take an activist approach to their own life's pursuits as well as their relationships, from their education to mental health, in their continuous advocacy for Black people (Collins 2000). In recent decades, Black women have prioritized their own wellness, and mental health while simultaneously advocating that men do the same. Through social media, as well as other media forms, we are seeing large calls to Black women to practice unapologetic, radical self love, a concept that had long been hailed within the Black feminist community, but is now becoming widespread as more become aware of it (Hester and Squires 2018, hooks 2001, Kashef 2000, Mason 2022, Roberts-Grey 2016). In listening to my participants work through their own self love journeys as it corresponds to their romantic pursuits, I see how they speak to power that this journey has had for them in preparing them for more in life, as they encourage others, men included to do the same.

CHAPTER 7. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Black women's romantic experiences have long been a part of national conversation, but rarely does that conversation center on Black women telling the stories themselves (Banks 2010, Leong 2012, Moynihan 1965). In addition to the continuous societal shame and degradation placed upon Black women in regards to their singleness, society has found countless ways to then use this fraction of their lived experience to blame Black women for the shortcomings of the overall Black community (Collins 2000, Johnson and Loscocco 2015; Moynihan 1965). Society has essentially turned statistics of Black women's declining marriage rates into a phenomenon that has had a moral snowball effect negatively impacting the Black community as a whole.

In a half-hearted attempt to alleviate the perceived 'damage,' scholars continually debate and offer their interpretations of solutions that typically only exacerbate the already immensely laborious experience of Black womanhood (Banks 2010; Leong 2012). By critically examining dominant culture's narratives surrounding marriage and utilizing a Black Feminist Theory and Critical Race Theory framework to empower and validate the intersectional experience of Black women in their own storytelling, I shed light on Black women's experiences in intimate marketplaces using their own voices. Using guided focus groups, my dissertation engages with single Black women on their experiences with dating men, their perspectives and experiences with interracial dating, their feelings regarding marriage, the pressures that they may face to marry, how they define marriageability in a man, and their experiences with dating down.

Informed by the literature of various scholars citing the prevalence of dating down for Black women, especially as they prioritize their desire for Black men, this project provides insight to what that actually looks like for women within their relationship experiences (Addo and Litcher 2013, Banks 2010, Black Women's Roundtable 2019). Possessing an acute

awareness of systemic racism and the impact it has on the Black community, many of my respondents couched their expectations of dating down within the frame of mass incarceration and the impact that it has had on Black men. Respondents often explicitly quoted statistics and made statements to the overrepresentation of Black men within the criminal justice system and directly connected these figures to their lack of romantic prospects.

Expressing their frustrations with the impact of mass incarceration and the policies put in place to further exacerbate the issue, the women in my project repeatedly expressed that they felt they had no other choice but to open up their romantic considerations to men who have been impacted by these systems. In considering men who have somehow gone through the penal system, the women then began to set their boundaries by outlining what they would and would not accept as far as criminal background. In most cases, with the women's communicated understanding of the War on Drugs and how it impacted Black communities, drug crimes were seemingly the most acceptable according to the concessions they explained being willing to make. Respondents also mentioned dismissing crimes of their distant past as long as they were not currently engaging in criminal behavior as well.

These allowances made by my respondents went against previous literature suggesting that respectability politics would remain supreme for Black women especially as it related to choosing suitable partners for marriage (Edin and Kefalas 2005). Instead, participants responses were better suited within a racial realism framework (Bell 1991) where the women accepted the realities of systemic racism and rather than clinging to respectability for the purposes of assimilation, the women would rather accept reality and expand their options by taking the less respectable route of accepting men with criminal backgrounds.

My study also looks at how women shaped the concept of marriage for themselves in a way that did not always consistently align with larger societal narratives. Understanding the significance of Black women engaging in self-defining (Collins 2000, Lorde 1980, Walker 2983), with no pretext, I asked respondents to explain to me what marriage meant to them and was met with two prevailing themes. There were some that possessed a more romanticized interpretation of marriage, even iterating their desire to be "chosen" by men, and seeing this achievement of marriage within this narrative as a societal win and mark of value for Black women. In providing this interpretation of marriage, which is heavily influenced by dominant culture (Smith 2022, Stritof 2021), participants were often discouraged in their ability to achieve this form of marriage. On the other hand, a majority of my participants took a significantly more pragmatic approach to marriage and saw it as a means of career and financial support, foundation building, and a constant source of self-improvement and work. The women who described marriage in this way also denounced concepts like love as being baseless and frivolous to the true purpose of marriage (Goldman 1914, hooks 2001). They also offered various unique interpretations to the day to day of marriage, with some going as far as characterizing it as being a constant fight.

Lastly, many of the women within my project spoke to prioritizing their own selves and their goals in lieu of relationships altogether. However, this didn't come without heavy considerations or emotions. Some participants simply saw it as an issue of meeting their basic needs and potentially pursuing their romantic pursuits after that has been accomplished, which aligns with research done regarding the hierarchy of needs (McLeod 2007). In these cases, women wanted to make sure that they themselves were established both financially and in their own careers before they would consider finding a partner and starting a family, which is

something that they desired to do in the future. In other scenarios, the women made the decision to deprioritize pursuing romantic relationships with a heavy heart. They expressed immense sadness regarding their current failed relationships and frustration in their ability to find a partner moving forward. They also would simultaneously quote their success in their educational pursuits and saw continuing in that direction and attaining more degrees as a more fruitful endeavor than looking for a male companion. This aligns with the Black Lady trope where successful Black women are more focused on their education and careers while having trouble with their relationships (Collins 2000). Respondents also spoke to the significance of prioritizing their own self-love and mental health and desiring a partner that does the same aligning with recent trends of Black women pursuing self-care, therapy, and mental health services (Kashef 2000, Roberts-Grey 2016). Further, this idea of self-love and being on a self-love journey coincides with counter-narratives arising in social media and among popular artists and influencers confronting societal beauty narratives and challenging women who don't fit them to adopt a perspective of radical self-love (Hester and Squires 2018, Mason 2022).

Future Directions

The findings within my dissertation only cover a fraction of the topics that were discussed throughout the focus groups. While I chose to focus on how my respondents spoke of dating down specifically in terms of criminality, self-defining marriage, and their commitment to self-improvement, there was significantly more rich conversation to glean from. The focus group question guide included sections on women's pressures to marry, where they most often found their romantic partners, their participation, and perspectives towards interracial dating, how they would characterize their ideal marriageable man, and more. While some of this information bled into the topics that I did cover, they all easily could stand alone in their own individual projects.

Various other topics such as the influence of the Black church, the use of religious jargon, and the debate of who was to 'blame' for Black women's low marriage rates between Black women and Black men were also prominent recurring discussions throughout several focus groups, although they were not explicitly covered within the question guide. I was quite surprised to see how recurring certain topics were, especially when I never even brought them up, which definitely intrigues me to do future research on the prevalence of these themes themselves.

Further, in the suggestions that I received from my participants when I asked if they felt that I missed anything, common proposals that I received from my respondents was to explicitly include the topic of sex as well as expanding the conversation to men. I was actually very intentional in not doing both of these things, especially not talking to men, so I was surprised that this is something that they wanted to see. I do see the value in continuing this work and having these conversations with men, but I question my ability to do them myself. Due to my embodied status as a Black woman, I doubt my ability to as easily gain access within that population and not have my data suffer severely from impression management. I may seek a research partner to accomplish that particular expansion of this research. In regards to my decision to not include sex, in prior research that I conducted on dating apps across race, I found that Black women were most reluctant to discuss hookup culture, consistent with Black women's alignment with the politics of respectability (Harris 2003; Higginbotham 1994). As a result, I decided against discussing sex in an effort to not create any unintentional barriers between myself and my participants again for the sake of impression management. However, considering the feedback I received, I would be very interested in seeing what happens in discussing Black women's experiences with sex and hookup culture and how that impacts their overall experiences with relationships.

All in all, my dissertation research opens the door to considerably more future research on Black women's relationship experiences. Additionally, this work provides a framework for future scholars to continue to keep an open dialogue with Black women as we continue to discuss them on a national stage. Using primarily Black feminist theory and critical race theory as a lens through which to capture these narratives, my research employed focus groups heavily informed by the testimonio methodology to create powerful safe spaces for respondents to engage in in-depth storytelling while simultaneously empowering each other within the sharing space. My respondents spoke candidly as they addressed their declining marriage rates through their own individualized experiences and together, they allowed me to capture thematic trends occurring throughout their various explanations. My research was able to detail how the women sought to expand their prospects through the rejection of respectability. I was also able to capture the women freely reframing the concept of marriage for themselves. Finally, my dissertation research was able to show how my respondents chose to prioritize romance in their lives alongside their own self-advancement. It is my hope that my project has made it overwhelmingly clear the depth of knowledge and awareness possessed by Black women as they navigate their romantic pursuits and other facets of their lives and that this work is just the beginning to seeing more of Black women's voices highlighted within the world of academia.

APPENDIX A. RECRUITMENT FLYER

HAVEN'T FOUND MR. RIGHT? Let's talk about it.



If you are a single, heterosexual Black Woman over the age of 18, please join us for a group discussion about your experiences with dating and relationships.

Space is limited!
Please email us to
check eligibility and
reserve your spot!

Refer a friend!

The Single Black Woman Project@gmail.com

APPENDIX B. IRB FORM

ACTION ON EXEMPTION APPROVAL REQUEST



Institutional Review Board

Dr. Dennis Landin, Chair 130 David Boyd Hall Baton Rouge, LA 70803

P: 225.578.8692

F: 225.578.5983 irb@lsu.edu lsu.edu/research

TO: Dana Berkowitz Sociology

FROM: Dennis Landin

Chair, Institutional Review Board

DATE: December 9, 2019

RE: IRB# E12037

TITLE: A Qualitative Study of Black Women's Experiences in Intimate Marketplaces

New Protocol/Modification/Continuation: New Protocol

Review Date: 12/9/2019

Approved X Disapproved

Approval Date: 12/9/2019 Approval Expiration Date: 12/8/2022

Exemption Category/Paragraph: 2c

Signed Consent Waived?: No

Re-review frequency: Three years

LSU Proposal Number (if applicable):

By: Dennis Landin, Chairman Handin

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR: PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING – Continuing approval is CONDITIONAL on:

- Adherence to the approved protocol, familiarity with, and adherence to the ethical standards of the Belmont Report, and LSU's Assurance of Compliance with DHHS regulations for the protection of human subjects*
- Prior approval of a change in protocol, including revision of the consent documents or an increase in the number of subjects over that approved.
- Obtaining renewed approval (or submittal of a termination report), prior to the approval expiration date, upon request by the IRB office (irrespective of when the project actually begins); notification of project termination.
- 4. Retention of documentation of informed consent and study records for at least 3 years after the study ends.
- Continuing attention to the physical and psychological well-being and informed consent of the individual participants, including notification of new information that might affect consent.
- 6. A prompt report to the IRB of any adverse event affecting a participant potentially arising from the study.
- 7. Notification of the IRB of a serious compliance failure.
- SPECIAL NOTE: When emailing more than one recipient, make sure you use bcc. Approvals will
 automatically be closed by the IRB on the expiration date unless the PI requests a continuation.
- * All investigators and support staff have access to copies of the Belmont Report, LSU's Assurance with DHHS, DHHS (45 CFR 46) and FDA regulations governing use of human subjects, and other relevant documents in print in this office or on our World Wide Web site at http://www.lsu.edu/irb

REFERENCE LIST

- 1986. "How Black Women Can Deal with the Black Male Shortage." *Ebony* 41(7):29-34.
- Abrams, Jasmine A., Morgan L. Maxwell and Faye Z. Belgrave. 2018. "Circumstances Beyond Their Control: Black Women's Perceptions of Black Manhood." *Sex Roles* 79(3-4):151-62. doi: 10.1007/s11199-017-0870-8.
- Addo, Fenaba R. and Daniel T. Lichter. 2013. "Marriage, Marital History, and Black White Wealth Differentials among Older Women." *Journal of Marriage & Family* 75(2):342-62. doi: 10.1111/jomf.12007.
- Addo, Fenaba R and Daniel T Lichter. 2013. "Marriage, Marital History, and Black—White Wealth Differentials among Older Women." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 75(2):342-62.
- Alexander, Michelle. 2011. "The New Jim Crow." Ohio St. J. Crim. L. 9:7.
- Apel, Robert and Anke Ramakers. 2018. "Impact of Incarceration on Employment Prospects." Pp. 85-104 in *Handbook on the Consequences of Sentencing and Punishment Decisions*: Routledge.
- Banks, Ralph Richard. 2012. *Is Marriage for White People?: How the African American Marriage Decline Affects Everyone*: Plume.
- Barber, Jennifer S and William G Axinn. 1998. "The Impact of Parental Pressure for Grandchildren on Young People's Entry into Cohabitation and Marriage." *Population Studies* 52(2):129-44.
- Barros-Gomes, Patrícia and Joyce Baptist. 2014. "Black Women's Ambivalence About Marriage: A Voice-Centered Relational Approach." *Journal of Couple & Relationship Therapy* 13(4):284-311. doi: 10.1080/15332691.2014.929064.
- Bell, Derrick. 1991. "Racial Realism." Conn. L. Rev. 24:363.
- Bell, Derrick. 1993. "The Racism Is Permanent Thesis: Courageous Revelation or Unconscious Denial of Racial Genocide." *Cap. UL Rev.* 22:571.
- Bell, Duran. 1997. "Defining Marriage and Legitimacy." *Current Anthropology* 38(2):237-54. doi: 10.1086/204606.
- Berdahl, Jennifer L and Celia Moore. 2006. "Workplace Harassment: Double Jeopardy for Minority Women." *Journal of applied psychology* 91(2):426.
- Bertrand, Catherine. 2010. "Bertrand, C. & Bourdeau, L. (2010). Research Interviews by Skype: A New Data Collection Method. In J. Esteves (Ed.), Proceedings from the 9th European Conference on Research Methods. (Pp 70-79). Spain: Ie Business School."

- Blackmon, Douglas A. 2009. Slavery by Another Name: The Re-Enslavement of Black Americans from the Civil War to World War Ii: Anchor.
- Blumer, Herbert. 1969. "Symbolic Interactionism: Perspective and Method. Berkeley."
- Blumer, Herbert. 1986. Symbolic Interactionism: Perspective and Method: Univ of California Press.
- Broman, Clifford L. 1993. "Race Differences in Marital Well-Being." *Journal of Marriage & Family* 55(3):724-32. doi: 10.2307/353352.
- Bruns, Angela. 2017. "Consequences of Partner Incarceration for Women's Employment." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 79(5):1331-52.
- Bureau, US Census. 2010. "Us Census."
- Bureau, US Census. 2020. "Us Census."
- Byrd, Ayana. 2007. "A Lesson before Loving." Essence 37(9):86-86.
- Campbell, Rosalyn Denise and Linda A Long. 2014. "Culture as a Social Determinant of Mental and Behavioral Health: A Look at Culturally Shaped Beliefs and Their Impact on Help-Seeking Behaviors and Service Use Patterns of Black Americans with Depression." *Best Practices in Mental Health* 10(2):48-62.
- Carey-Webb, Allen and Stephen Benz. 1996. *Teaching and Testimony: Rigoberta Menchú and the North American Classroom*: SUNY Press.
- Chaney, Cassandra. 2011. "The Character of Womanhood: How African American Women's Perceptions of Womanhood Influence Marriage and Motherhood." *Ethnicities* 11(4):512-35. doi: 10.1177/1468796811415764.
- Chaney, Cassandra and Colita Nichols Fairfax. 2013. "A Change Has Come: The Obamas and the Culture of Black Marriage in America." *Ethnicities* 13(1):20-48. doi: 10.1177/1468796812463546.
- Cheng, Siwei. 2016. "The Accumulation of (Dis)Advantage." *American Sociological Review* 81(1):29-56. doi: 10.1177/0003122415621263.
- Childs, David Jason. 2014. ""Let's Talk About Race": Exploring Racial Stereotypes Using Popular Culture in Social Studies Classrooms." *Social Studies* 105(6):291-300. doi: 10.1080/00377996.2014.948607.
- Childs, Erica Chito. 2005. *Navigating Interracial Borders: Black-White Couples and Their Social Worlds*. New Brunswick, N.J.: Rutgers University Press.

- Clear, Todd R. 2009. *Imprisoning Communities: How Mass Incarceration Makes Disadvantaged Neighborhoods Worse*: Oxford University Press.
- Collins, Patricia Hill. 1996. "African-American Women and Economic Justice: A Preliminary Analysis of Wealth, Family, and African-American Social Class." *U. Cin. l. reV.* 65:825.
- Collins, Patricia Hill. 2002. Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment: Routledge.
- Collins, Sharon M. 1983. "The Making of the Black Middle Class." Social Problems 30(4):369-82.
- Collins, Wanda Lott and Armon R Perry. 2015. "Black Men's Perspectives on the Role of the Black Church in Healthy Relationship Promotion and Family Stability." *Social Work & Christianity* 42(4).
- Crenshaw, Kimberle. 1990. "Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color." *Stan. L. Rev.* 43:1241.
- Crenshaw, Kimberlé. 1995. Critical Race Theory: The Key Writings That Formed the Movement: The New Press.
- Crenshaw, Kimberle. 2021. "Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics." *Droit et société* 108:465.
- Crowder, Kyle D., Stewart E. Tolnay. 2000. "A New Marriage Squeeze for Black Women: The Role of Racial Intermarriage by Black Men." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 62(3).
- Cunningham, Mick. 2008. "Changing Attitudes toward the Male Breadwinner, Female Homemaker Family Model: Influences of Women's Employment and Education over the Lifecourse." *Social Forces* 87(1):299-323.
- Delgado Bernal, Dolores, Rebeca Burciaga and Judith Flores Carmona. 2012. "Chicana/Latina Testimonios: Mapping the Methodological, Pedagogical, and Political." *Equity & Excellence in Education* 45(3):363-72.
- DeMaris, Alfred and Gary Oates. 2022. "The Trajectory of Subjective Well-Being: A Partial Explanation of the Marriage Advantage." *Journal of Family Issues* 43(6):1650-68.
- DePass, Dee. 2006. "Looking for Mr. White: Interracial Relationship Survey." ESSENCE, June.
- Edin, Kathryn. 2000. "What Do Low-Income Single Mothers Say About Marriage [Article]." Pp. 112.
- Edin, Kathryn and Maria Kefalas. 2005. "Promises I Can Keep." Berkeley: University of California Press.

- Etikan, Ilker, Sulaiman Abubakar Musa and Rukayya Sunusi Alkassim. 2016. "Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling." *American journal of theoretical and applied statistics* 5(1):1-4.
- Fleming, Jacqueline. 1978. "Fear of Success, Achievement-Related Motives and Behavior in Black College Women 1." *Journal of Personality* 46(4):694-716.
- Frazer, Maddy, Social Justice and Mr Moon. 2019. "The History and Consequences of Mass Incarceration." *Social Justice* 12:1-3.
- Frazier, E Franklin. 1958. "Black Bourgeoisie."
- Frazier, Franklin. 1997. Black Bourgeoisie: Simon and Schuster.
- Galobardes, Bruna, Mary Shaw, Debbie A Lawlor, John W Lynch and George Davey Smith. 2006. "Indicators of Socioeconomic Position (Part 1)." *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* 60(1):7-12.
- Geronimus, Arline T, Margaret Hicken, Danya Keene and John Bound. 2006. ""Weathering" and Age Patterns of Allostatic Load Scores among Blacks and Whites in the United States." *American Journal of Public Health* 96(5):826-33.
- Geronimus, Arline T and J Phillip Thompson. 2004. "To Denigrate, Ignore, or Disrupt: Racial Inequality in Health and the Impact of a Policy-Induced Breakdown of African American Communities." *Du Bois Review: Social Science Research on Race* 1(2):247-79.
- Goldman, Emma. 1914. Marriage and Love: Mother Earth Publishing Association.
- Goldstein, Joshua R and Catherine T Kenney. 2001. "Marriage Delayed or Marriage Forgone? New Cohort Forecasts of First Marriage for Us Women." *American Sociological Review*:506-19.
- Goodwin, Michele. 2018. "The Thirteenth Amendment: Modern Slavery, Capitalism, and Mass Incarceration." *Cornell L. Rev.* 104:899.
- Harris, Paisley Jane. 2003. "Gatekeeping and Remaking: The Politics of Respectability in African American Women's History and Black Feminism." *Journal of Women's History* 15(1):212-20.
- Harris, Tamara Winfrey. 2012. "Singled Out." Ms. 22(1):46-47.
- Harris-Perry, Melissa V. 2011. Sister Citizen: Shame, Stereotypes, and Black Women in America: Yale University Press.
- Harvey, Steve. 2009. Act Like a Lady, Think Like a Man: PT Mizan Publika.
- Henry, Wilma J. 2008. "Black Female Millennial College Students: Dating Dilemmas and Identity Development." *Multicultural Education* 16(2):17-21.

- Hester, Scarlett L and Catherine R Squires. 2018. "Who Are We Working For? Recentering Black Feminism." *Communication and Critical/Cultural Studies* 15(4):343-48.
- Higginbotham, Evelyn Brooks. 1994. *Righteous Discontent: The Women's Movement in the Black Baptist Church*, 1880–1920: Harvard University Press.
- Hirschi, Travis. 1969. *The Causes of Delinquency*. Berkeley: The University of California Press.
- Hirschl, Thomas A., Joyce Altobelli and Mark A. Rank. 2003. "Does Marriage Increase the Odds of Affluence? Exploring the Lofe Course Probabilities." *Journal of Marriage & Family* 65(4):927-38.
- Hooks, Bell. 2001. All About Love: New Visions: Harper Perennial.
- Hope, Elan C, Gabriel Velez, Carly Offidani-Bertrand, Micere Keels and Myles I Durkee. 2018. "Political Activism and Mental Health among Black and Latinx College Students." *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology* 24(1):26.
- Horwitz, Allan V., Helene R. White and Sandra Howell-White. 1996. "Becoming Married and Mental Health: A Longitudinal Study of a Cohort of Young Adults." *Journal of Marriage & Family* 58:895-907.
- Huber, Lindsay Pérez. 2009. "Disrupting Apartheid of Knowledge: Testimonio as Methodology in Latina/O Critical Race Research in Education." *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education* 22(6):639-54. doi: 10.1080/09518390903333863.
- Hull, Gloria T and Patricia Bell. 2015. But Some of Us Are Brave: All the Women Are White, All the Blacks Are Men: Black Women's Studies: Feminist Press.
- Hurt, Tera R., Stacey E. McElroy, Kameron J. Sheats, Antoinette M. Landor and Chalandra M. Bryant. 2014. "Married Black Men's Opinions as to Why Black Women Are Disproportionately Single: A Qualitative Study." *Personal Relationships* 21(1):88-109. doi: 10.1111/pere.12019.
- Johnson, Kecia R and Karyn Loscocco. 2015. "Black Marriage through the Prism of Gender, Race, and Class." *Journal of Black Studies* 46(2):142-71.
- Jones, Melanie C. 2018. "The Will to Adorn: Beyond Self-Surveillance, toward a Womanist Ethic of Redemptive Self-Love." *Black Theology: An International Journal* 16(3):218-30. doi: 10.1080/14769948.2018.1492303.
- Kashef, Ziba. 2000. "Sister, Heal Thyself." Essence 30(9):82.
- Kinnon, Joy Bennett. 2003. "The Shocking State of Black Marriage: Experts Say Many Will Never Get Married." *Ebony* 59(1):192-94.

- Leong, Nancy. 2012. "Is Marriage for Rich People? A Book Review of Ralph Richard Banks's Is Marriage for White People?". *Connecticut Law Review* 44(4):1325-37.
- Lewis, Helen. 2012. "The Awkward Data on Dating: How Okcupid Used Stats to Uncover Its Users' Prejudices and Preferences." pp. 37.
- Lichter, Daniel T, Robert N Anderson and Mark D Hayward. 1995. "Marriage Markets and Marital Choice." *Journal of Family Issues* 16(4):412-31.
- Lichter, Daniel T., Felicia B. LeClere and Diane K. McLaughlin. 1991. "Local Marriage Markets and the Marital Behavior of Black and White Women." *American Journal of Sociology* 96(4):843. doi: 10.1086/229610.
- Livingston, Gretchen and Anna Brown. 2017. "Trends and Patterns in Intermarriage." *PEW Research Centre*.
- Luke, David J and Carrie B Oser. 2015. "Ebony and Ivory? Interracial Dating Intentions and Behaviors of Disadvantaged African American Women in Kentucky." *Social science research* 53:338-50.
- Lyons, Christopher J. and Becky Pettit. 2011. "Compounded Disadvantage: Race, Incarceration, and Wage Growth." *Social Problems* 58(2):257-80.
- Madriz, Esther I. 1998. "Using Focus Groups with Lower Socioeconomic Status Latina Women." *Qualitative Inquiry* 4(1):114-28. doi: 10.1177/107780049800400107.
- Martin, Lori Latrice. 2022. "Racial Realism and the History of Black People in America." Lexington Books. Retrieved.
- McGee, Ebony O and Lydia Bentley. 2017. "The Troubled Success of Black Women in Stem." *Cognition and Instruction* 35(4):265-89.
- McKenzie, Lara and Laura Dales. 2017. "Choosing Love? Tensions and Transformations of Modern Marriage in Married at First Sight." *Continuum: Journal of Media & Cultural Studies* 31(6):857-67. doi: 10.1080/10304312.2017.1334873.
- McLeod, Saul. 2007. "Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs." Simply psychology 1(1-18).
- Moultrie, Monique. 2018. "Putting a Ring on It: Black Women, Black Churches, and Coerced Monogamy." *Black Theology: An International Journal* 16(3):231-47. doi: 10.1080/14769948.2018.1492304.
- Moultrie, Monique. 2018. "Putting a Ring on It: Black Women, Black Churches, and Coerced Monogamy." *Black Theology: An International Journal* 16(3):231-47. doi: 10.1080/14769948.2018.1492304.

- Mouzon, Dawne. 2013, "Why Has Marriage Declined Amond Black Americans?" *Scholars Strategy Network Key Findings*, Scholars Strategy Network. Retrieved 11/21/2019.
- Moynihan, Daniel P. 2017. "The Negro Family." Pp. 357-416 in Americans from Africa: Routledge.
- Murray, Saundra R and Martha T Mednick. 1975. "Perceiving the Causes of Success and Failure in Achievement: Sex, Race, and Motivational Comparisons." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 43(6):881.
- Murray, Saundra Rice and Martha Tamara Shuch Mednick. 1977. "Black Women's Achievement Orientation: Motivational and Cognitive Factors." *Psychology of Women Quarterly* 1(3):247-59.
- Neil, Latisha and Afiya Mbilishaka. 2019. ""Hey Curlfriends!": Hair Care and Self-Care Messaging on Youtube by Black Women Natural Hair Vloggers." *Journal of Black Studies* 50(2):156-77.
- Ontiveros, Maria L. 1993. "Three Perspectives on Workplace Harassment of Women of Color." *Golden Gate UL Rev.* 23:817.
- Pager, Devah. 2003. "The Mark of a Criminal Record." American Journal of Sociology 108(5):937-75.
- Painia, Brianne Alexandra. 2018. Feminism and the Black Church: A Qualitative Analysis of Feminism among Black Women in a Southern Baptist Church: Louisiana State University and Agricultural & Mechanical College.
- Pattillo, Mary. 2013. *Black Picket Fences: Privilege and Peril among the Black Middle Class*: University of Chicago Press.
- Pereira, Samantha. 2018. "Mass Incarceration: Slavery Renamed." *Themis: Research Journal of Justice Studies and Forensic Science* 6(1):3.
- Pettit, Becky and Christopher J Lyons. 2009. "Incarceration and the Legitimate Labor Market: Examining Age-Graded Effects on Employment and Wages." *Law & Society Review* 43(4):725-56.
- Pope, James Gray. 2019. "Mass Incarceration, Convict Leasing, and the Thirteenth Amendment: A Revisionist Account." *NYUL Rev.* 94:1465.
- Porter, Margaret M. and Arline L. Bronzaft. 1995. "Do the Future Plans of Educated Black Women Include Black Mates?". *Journal of Negro Education* 64(2):162. doi: 10.2307/2967239.
- Raelene, Wilding. 2003. "Romantic Love and 'Getting Married': Narratives of the Wedding in and out of Cinema Texts." *Journal of Sociology* 39(4):373-89. doi: 10.1177/0004869003394004.
- Raley, R Kelly and Megan M Sweeney. 2009. "Explaining Race and Ethnic Variation in Marriage: Directions for Future Research." *Race and Social Problems* 1(3):132-42.

- Raley, R. Kelly, Megan M. Sweeney and Danielle Wondra. 2015. "The Growing Racial and Ethnic Divide in U.S. Marriage Patterns." *Future of Children* 25(2):89-109. doi: 10.1353/foc.2015.0014.
- Raley, R Kelly, Megan M Sweeney and Danielle Wondra. 2015. "The Growing Racial and Ethnic Divide in Us Marriage Patterns." *The Future of Children/Center for the Future of Children, the David and Lucile Packard Foundation* 25(2):89.
- Ray, Victor Erik, Antonia Randolph, Megan Underhill and David Luke. 2017. "Critical Race Theory, Afro-Pessimism, and Racial Progress Narratives." *Sociology of race and ethnicity* 3(2):147-58.
- Reeves, Richard V. and Katherine Guyot. 2017, "Black Women Are Earning More College Degrees, but That Alone Won't Close Race Gaps" *Social Mobility Memos*, Brookings. Retrieved 11/21/2019, 2019.
- Reyes, Kathryn Blackmer and Julia E. Curry Rodríguez. 2012. "Testimonio: Origins, Terms, and Resources." *Equity & Excellence in Education* 45(3):525-38. doi: 10.1080/10665684.2012.698571.
- Reyes, Kathryn Blackmer and Julia E Curry Rodríguez. 2012. "Testimonio: Origins, Terms, and Resources." *Equity & Excellence in Education* 45(3):525-38.
- Richardson, Allissa V. 2019. "Dismantling Respectability: The Rise of New Womanist Communication Models in the Era of Black Lives Matter." *Journal of Communication* 69(2):193-213. doi: 10.1093/joc/jqz005.
- Roberts-grey, Gina. 2016. "Therapy Saved Me." Essence 47(7):107-10.
- Robinson, Michael A, Sharon Jones-Eversley, Sharon E Moore, Joseph Ravenell and A Christson Adedoyin. 2018. "Black Male Mental Health and the Black Church: Advancing a Collaborative Partnership and Research Agenda." *Journal of religion and health* 57(3):1095-107.
- Roche, Susan E and Gale Goldberg Wood. 2005. "A Narrative Principle for Feminist Social Work with Survivors of Male Violence." *Affilia* 20(4):465-75.
- Romano, Renee. 2018. "Something Old, Something New: Black Women, Interracial Dating, and the Black Marriage Crisis." *Differences: A Journal of Feminist Cultural Studies* 29(2):126-53. doi: 10.1215/10407391-6999802.
- Roundtable, Black Women's. 2019. "Black Women in the United States, 2019: Executive Summary." Vol. 6. *State of Black Women in the U.S. & Key States, 2019*. National Coalition of Black Civic Participation.
- Roxburgh, Susan. 2014. "Race, Class, and Gender Differences in the Marriage-Health Relationship." *Race, Gender & Class*:7-31.

- Saavedra, Cinthya M. and Michelle Salazar Pérez. 2012. "Chicana and Black Feminisms: Testimonios of Theory, Identity, and Multiculturalism." *Equity & Excellence in Education* 45(3):430-43. doi: 10.1080/10665684.2012.681970.
- Salisu, Margaret A. 2022. "Dating Behaviors of Older Black Women." *Journal of Gerontological Social Work* 65(3):337-57. doi: 10.1080/01634372.2021.1967547.
- Sawhill, Isabel and Joanna Venator. 2015. "Is There a Shortage of Marriageable Men?" Vol. 56. Center on Children and Families at BROOKINGS.
- Secord, Paul F. and Kenneth Ghee. 1986. "Implications of the Black Marriage Market for Marital Conflict." *Journal of Family Issues* 7(1):21-30. doi: 10.1177/019251386007001002.
- SentencingProject. 2015, "Fact Sheet: Trends in U.S. Corrections", sentencingproject.org.
- Smith, Dorothy E. 1987. *The Everyday World as Problematic: A Feminist Sociology*: University of Toronto Press.
- Smock, Pamela J. and Wendy D. Manning. 1997. "Cohabiting Partners' Economic Circumstances and Marriage." *Demography* 34(3):331-41. doi: 10.2307/3038287.
- Stanford, Beverly Hardcastle and Robert N. Stearns. 2019. "Perspectives of Elders in Thriving Marriages on Why Their Marriages Thrive." *Educational Gerontology* 45(3):227-43. doi: 10.1080/03601277.2019.1602373.
- Stanton, Alexis G, Morgan C Jerald, L Monique Ward and Lanice R Avery. 2017. "Social Media Contributions to Strong Black Woman Ideal Endorsement and Black Women's Mental Health." *Psychology of Women Quarterly* 41(4):465-78.
- Staples, Robert. 1979. "Beyond the Black Family: The Trend toward Singlehood." *The Western Journal of Black Studies* 3(3):150.
- Steinbugler, Amy C. 2012. Beyond Loving: Intimate Racework in Lesbian, Gay, and Straight Interracial Relationships: Oxford University Press.
- Stephens, Dionne P and Layli D Phillips. 2003. "Freaks, Gold Diggers, Divas, and Dykes: The Sociohistorical Development of Adolescent African American Women's Sexual Scripts." *Sexuality and culture* 7(1):3-49.
- Stout, Christopher T., Kelsy Kretschmer and Leah Ruppanner. 2017. "Gender Linked Fate, Race/Ethnicity, and the Marriage Gap in American Politics." *Political Research Quarterly* 70(3):509-22. doi: 10.1177/1065912917702499.
- Strohschein, Lisa. 2016. "Do Men Really Benefit More from Marriage Than Women?". *American Journal of Public Health* 106(9):e2-e2.

- Taylor, Keeanga-Yamahtta. 2017. *How We Get Free: Black Feminism and the Combahee River Collective*: Haymarket Books.
- Thompson, Linda. 1993. "Conceptualizing Gender in Marriage: The Case of Marital Care." *Journal of Marriage and the Family*:557-69.
- Toner, Jean. 2009. "Small Is Not Too Small: Reflections Concerning the Validity of Very Small Focus Groups (Vsfgs)." *Qualitative Social Work* 8(2):179-92.
- Torr, Berna M. 2011. "The Changing Relationship between Education and Marriage in the United States, 1940–2000." *Journal of Family History* 36(4):483-503. doi: 10.1177/0363199011416760.
- Torres, Nicole. 2018. "Having a Black Doctor Led Black Men to Receive More Effective Care." Harvard Business Review:10.
- Wald, Johanna and Daniel J Losen. 2003. "Defining and Redirecting a School-to-Prison Pipeline." *New directions for youth development* 2003(99):9-15.
- Washington, Jesse. 2020. "New Poll Shows Black Americans Put Far Less Trust in Doctors and Hospitals Than White People." *The Undefeated*.
- Wells, Barbara and Maxine Baca Zinn. 2004. "The Benefits of Marriage Reconsidered." *J. Soc. & Soc. Welfare* 31:59.
- Western, Bruce and Christopher Muller. 2013. "Mass Incarceration, Macrosociology, and the Poor." *Annals of the American Academy of Political & Social Science* 647(1):166.
- Western, Bruce and Christopher Wildeman. 2009. "The Black Family and Mass Incarceration." *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 621:221-42. doi: http://ann.sagepub.com/content/by/year.
- Wilcox, W Bradford and Nicholas H Wolfinger. 2007. "Then Comes Marriage? Religion, Race, and Marriage in Urban America." *Social science research* 36(2):569-89.
- Wildeman, Christopher and Emily A. Wang. 2017. "Series: Mass Incarceration, Public Health, and Widening Inequality in the USA." *The Lancet* 389:1464-74. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30259-3.
- Wildeman, Christopher and Emily A Wang. 2017. "Mass Incarceration, Public Health, and Widening Inequality in the USA." *The Lancet* 389(10077):1464-74.
- Willson, Andrea E. 2003. "Race and Women's Income Trajectories." *Social Problems* 50(1):87. doi: 10.1525/sp.2003.50.1.87.
- Wilson, William Julius. 1987. "The Truly Disadvantaged: The Inner City." *The Underclass, and Public Policy* 8.

- Wilson, William Julius. 2012. *The Truly Disadvantaged: The Inner City, the Underclass, and Public Policy*: University of Chicago Press.
- Wiltshire, Jacqueline C, Sharina D Person and Jeroan Allison. 2011. "Exploring Differences in Trust in Doctors among African American Men and Women." *Journal of the National Medical Association* 103(9-10):845-51.
- Yahya, Siham and Simon Boag. 2014. ""My Family Would Crucify Me!": The Perceived Influence of Social Pressure on Cross-Cultural and Interfaith Dating and Marriage." *Sexuality & Culture* 18(4):759-72.
- Yolanda, Young. 2004. "Black Marriages Need Church's Help."
- Zaw, Khaing, Jhumpa Bhattacharya, Anne Price, Darrick Hamilton and William Darity Jr. 2017. "Women, Race and Wealth." *Research brief series* 1(1):1-4.

VITA

Alana Jamelle Peck, from Altadena, California, completed her bachelors degree from Xavier University of Louisiana. After a brief break where she worked as an educator, she began her doctoral program at Louisiana State University. After completing her masters degree at Louisiana State University, she continued her passion in educating by working as an adjunct professor at multiple institutions. Upon completion of her doctorate, she is pivoting and beginning a career as a market researcher.